
 

Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
 
 
 

 Please reply to:  
 Contact: Melis Owen 
 Service: Committee Services 
 Direct Line: 01784 446449 
 E-mail: m.owen@spelthorne.gov.uk 
 Date: 18 September 2023 

 
 

Notice of meeting 
 
 

Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee 
 
 
Date: 
 

Tuesday, 26 September 2023 

Time: 
 

7.00 pm 

Place: 
 

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Knowle Green, Staines-upon-Thames TW18 
1XB 

 
To the members of the Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee 
 
Councillors: 
 
S.M. Doran (Chair) 
M.M. Attewell (Vice-Chair) 
M. Arnold 
E. Baldock 
 

C. Bateson 
L. Brennan 
M. Buck 
S.A. Dunn 
 

A. Gale 
K.M. Grant 
O. Rybinski 
 

 
Substitute Members: Councillors S.N. Beatty, M. Beecher, H. Boparai, R. Geach, 

S. Gyawali and K. Rutherford 
 
Councillors are reminded that the Gifts and Hospitality Declaration book will be available 
outside the meeting room for you to record any gifts or hospitality offered to you since the last 
Committee meeting. 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


 

 

Agenda 
 
 Page nos. 
 
1.   Apologies and Substitutes 

 
 

 To receive apologies of absence and notification of substitutions. 
 

 

2.   Minutes 
 

5 - 14 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2023 as a 
correct record. 
 

 

3.   Disclosures of Interest 
 

 

 To receive any disclosures of interest from Councillors in accordance 
with the Council’s Code of Conduct for members. 
 

 

4.   Questions from members of the Public 
 

 

 The Chair, or their nominee, to answer any questions raised by 
members of the public in accordance with Standing Order 40. 
 
 
At the time of publication of this agenda no questions were received.  
 

 

5.   Ward Issues 
 

 

 To consider any issues raised by ward councillors in accordance with 
Standing Order 34.2 
 
 
At the time of publication of this agenda no ward issues were received.  
 

 

6.   Grants Panel Terms of Reference 
 

15 - 28 

 To consider the establishment of the Grants Panel and make a 
recommendation to council in relation to the Grants Panel Terms of 
Reference.  
 

 

7.   Community Centre Saturday Opening (A continuation) 
 

29 - 34 

 To consider the continuation of the Community Centre Saturday 
opening Provision.  
 

 

8.   North West Surrey Role Mapping Risks and Opportunities 
 

35 - 110 

 To note the diversity of Health and Wellbeing roles in the North West 
Surrey area and recommend an approach or position statement.  
 

 

9.   Verbal Update on the Local Authority Housing Fund Round 2, Verbal 



 

Property Acquisition and Bridging Hotel Closure 
 

Report 

 To receive a verbal update on the Local Authority Housing Fund Round 
2, property acquisitions and the Bridging Hotel closure.  
 

 

10.   Forward Plan 
 

111 - 114 

 To consider the Forward Plan for committee business. 
 

 

11.   Exclusion of Public and Press 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the Press/Public for the following items, in 
view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
and by the Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 
2006. 
 

 

12.   Staffing Report - Independent Living 
 

115 - 134 

 To make a recommendation to Corporate Policy and Resources 
Committee on Independent Living Staffing.  
 
 

 

13.   Leisure Operator Procurements 
 

135 - 152 

 To make a recommendation to Corporate Policy and Resources 
Committee and Council on the Procurement of a Leisure Centre 
Operator.  
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee 
13 June 2023 

 
 

Present: 

Councillor S.M. Doran (Chair) 
  

 
Councillors: 
 

M. Arnold 

C. Bateson 

L. Brennan 

 

M. Buck 

S.A. Dunn 

A. Gale 

 

K.M. Grant 

O. Rybinski 

 

 

Substitutions: Councillors K. Rutherford (In place of E. Baldock) 

 

 
 

Apologies: Councillors M.M. Attewell 

 
 

In Attendance: Councillors M. Beecher 

 
 

25/23   Minutes  
 

The start of the meeting was delayed until 19:15 due to an induction session 
for the committee members overrunning.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 March 2023 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

26/23   Disclosures of Interest  
 

There were none. 
 

27/23   Questions from members of the Public  
 

There were none. 
 

28/23   Ward Issues  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee, 13 June 2023 - continued 

 

 
 

 
There were none. 
 

29/23   Community Garden Project - West Wing  
 

The Committee considered a report on a proposed community garden project. 
The Group Head Commissioning and Transformation explained that 
community gardens provided opportunities for individuals to grow their own 
food, socialise, and provided mental health and wellbeing benefits. If the 
committee agreed, West Wing Knowle Green residents would be consulted 
over interest in a community garden, and would be offered to provide input on 
an appropriate location. Wilmott Dixon would contribute towards the 
community garden as part of their social value contribution in their role as 
contractor for the leisure centre scheme. 
 
The Committee noted that both flowers and vegetables were proposed for the 
garden and there would be no poisonous plants. The project would also 
present community learning opportunities, and if successful, proposals for 
other sites would be considered. The Committee confirmed that the proposed 
contribution from Willmott Dixon would cover the cost of the project.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Doran, and seconded by Councillor Rybinski 
that the recommendation be amended to state “to approve the community 
garden project in principal and consultation with West Wing Knowle Green 
residents, and if the residents wish to proceed on a particular site, agree that 
site between Group Heads in consultation with the Chair of Community 
Wellbeing and Housing.” 
 
The Committee resolved to approve the community garden project in 
principal and consultation with West Wing Knowle Green residents, and if the 
residents wish to proceed on a particular site, agree that site between Group 
Heads in consultation with the Chair of Community Wellbeing and Housing. 
 

30/23   Delayed decision relating to Annual Grant Awards 2023/24  
 

The Committee considered a report from the Strategic Lead of Leisure and 
Community Development on delayed decisions for community grants. 
 
The Committee considered community grant applications at their meeting in 
January 2023. Since agreement, two further applications had been identified 
as submitted during the funding window, but were missed as they were not 
submitted correctly. The two applications related to a salary costs for an 
individual, and the grants panel recommended that both applications be 
rejected as they felt the grant funding budget should not be used to provide 
salary costs of charitable organisations. The panel also suggested that for 
clarification in future that factor should be incorporated in future funding 
criteria.  
 
The Committee resolved to: 

Page 6



 
Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee, 13 June 2023 - continued 

 

 
 

1) Approve the cross-party grant panel recommendations in relation to the 
funding bids from Stanwell Events and Stanwell Foodbank. 

2) Review the Council’s annual grant funding criteria and to stipulate that 
the basis for their Grant Funding Panel’s recommendation should be 
incorporated into the funding criteria in future. 

 

31/23   Food and Price Review of Greeno Community Centre Alterations  
 

This item was considered with item 11, “Procurement of Meals on Wheels & 
Community Meals Provision,” and the recommendations were combined with 
that item. 
 

32/23   Forward Plan  
 

The Committee resolved to note the forward plan for future committee 
business. 
 

33/23   Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

It was proposed by Councillor Bateson, seconded by Councillor Arnold and 
resolved to exclude the public and press in view of the likely disclosure of 
exempt information within the meaning of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

34/23   Procurement of Meals on Wheels and Community Meals 
Provision  
 

The Committee considered a report on the procurement of Meals on Wheels 
and community meals provision. 
 
The Committee resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the 
report. 
 

35/23   Urgent Item- Local Authority Housing Fund Round two  
 

The Committee received a verbal update from the Deputy Chief Executive on 
round two of funding from the Local Authority Housing Fund. 
 
The Committee resolved to note the update on the Local Authority Housing 
Fund. 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
Community Wellbeing  
& Housing Committee  

 

Date of meeting 26 Sept 2023 

Title Grant Funding Panel Terms of Reference  

Purpose of the report To make a decision and a recommendation to Council 

 

Report Author Lisa Stonehouse Community Development Manager  

Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

 

Exempt  No     

Exemption Reason n/a 

Corporate Priority Community 

 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked to: 

 Approve the establishment of the Grants Panel for 
2023/2024 in order that the Grants Panel process can 
begin 

 Approve revised Terms of Reference for the Grants 
Panel.   

 Delegate authority to the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of this 
Committee to agree the names of those members on 
the Grants Panel  

 Recommend the inclusion of the Grants Panel Terms 
of Reference in the Constitution 

 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

The adoption of new terms of reference is needed to appoint 
members to the Council Grants Panel in order that funding 
applications in 2023/24 can be considered.   

 

It is recommended that the Terms of Reference referred to in 
Option 1 are adopted as the Grants Panel would have 
representatives from several committees and political groups. It is 
also recommended that the Grants Panel is established at this 
meeting in order that the 2023/2024 grants process can begin.  

 

The terms of reference for the Grants Panel must also be adopted 
into the Council Constitution.   

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 
 

 

1. Summary of the report 

1.1 This report seeks agreement for the adoption of proposed new Terms of 
Reference (TOR) for the Council Grants Panel. The Grants Panel are an 
advisory group who consider and make recommendations about grant 
applications to the Council.   The Grants Panel TOR need to be incorporated 
into the constitution as this was an outstanding item when the committee 
system was introduced. Amendments to the constitution will go to the 
Standards Committee and Council in October. There are three options for the 
proposed TOR; Option 1 (Appendix B), option 2 (Appendix C) or option 3 
(Appendix D) Option 1 is the recommended option. 

2. Key issues 

2.1 The Grants Panel and TOR must be adopted as part of the Council 
constitution.  Amendments to the constitution will go to the Standards 
Committee and Council in October.  

2.2 It is recommended that The Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee 
establish the Grants Panel at the 26 September meeting in order that the 
2023/2024 grants process can begin. 

2.3 The Council has historically appointed a Grants Panel to consider applications 
for its revenue grants scheme, making recommendations by way of a report at 
the annual budget setting meeting in the first months of each year. The copy 
of the historic TOR is outlined in Appendix A.  

2.4 The Voluntary Community Sector (VCS) submit applications to the Grants 
Panel each year. Spelthorne Borough Council regard the VCS as a key driver 
of services to address unmet needs in the community. Several charities 
provide crucial services that are essential to residents. Greater demands for 
VCS services have arisen due to the rising cost of living and the recent Covid 
pandemic.    

2.5 Financial support for this sector is essential. The Council allocates a budget 
for grant funding on an annual basis to fund initiatives that support the 
Council’s corporate objectives and complement our services. The VCS sector 
offers services to a diverse range of communities. It can deliver outcomes that 
the Public Sector finds hard to deliver on its own, such as one-to-one support, 
dedication to a specific group or cause, expert advice, and other non-statutory 
services. 

2.6 Annual grants are also made to arts, sports, and cultural bodies to enhance 
active lifestyle, health, and wellbeing opportunities for our residents, and by 
organisations advocating for minority groups, user groups, and faith 
communities.  

2.7 Other public bodies such as the North-West Surrey Integrated Care Partnership 
and Surrey County Council also see the voluntary sector as important providers 
and, in some cases, fund them separately or as part of a joint funding 
partnership. 

 

Page 16



 
 

2.8 The Grants Budget is allocated on an annual cycle. The opportunity is promoted 
in September each year when organisations are invited to apply for funding for 
the subsequent financial year. 

2.9 Terms of Reference Option 1 (recommended option). There are 5 suggested 
changes that could be implemented as outlined below. The full TOR are 
outlined in Appendix B 

o It is proposed that the composition of the Grants Panel could change 
from 3 councillors and 3 officers to 5 councillors with 2 officers attending 
in an advisory capacity.  

o The Chair or the Vice Chair of the Community Wellbeing and Housing 
Committee (CWHC) will be Chair of the Grants Panel.  

o The remaining four positions on the Panel will be filled by Councillors 
with relevant skills or knowledge. They will be nominated by the four 
political group leaders of the political parties not represented on the 
Panel. This will ensure that there is a cross party and cross committee 
approach to the constitution of the Panel.  

o The Chair of the Grants Panel will be nominated at the first CWHC of 
the municipal year.  Nominations for the Panel membership will be 
made by political group leaders in advance of the meeting.   

o The quorum shall be 3 Councillors. (2 officers will be present in an 
advisory capacity).  

 
2.10 Terms of Reference Option 2. There are 5 suggested changes that could be 

implemented as outlined below.  The full TOR are outlined in Appendix C. 

o It is proposed that the composition of the Grant Panel could change from 3 
councillors and 3 officers to 5 councillors with 2 officers attending in an 
advisory capacity. (this point is the same as for Option 1) 

o The Chair and Vice Chair of the CWHC will fill two of the posts with the 
Chair of the CWHC also acting as the Chair of the Grants Panel.   

o The CWHC will nominate the remaining 3 Panel members which should 
reflect a cross party approach to the constitution of the Panel.  

o The nominations will be made by the Community Wellbeing & Housing 
Committee at their first meeting of the municipal year. 

o The quorum shall be 3 Councillors. (2 officers will be present in an 
advisory capacity). 

2.10 Terms of Reference Option 3  -  Keep the historic Terms of Reference with 
two essential minor amendments to reflect the Committee Process. Eg the 
change from Cabinet to CWHC.  The full TOR are outlined in Appendix D. 
The amendments to reflect the CWHC are in red.  

o A minimum of 3 elected members and three officers with relevant skills 
or knowledge will comprise the panel. 

o These will be appointed to the panel by being proposed and seconded 
by existing panel members and following a vote of existing members. 
Members should be nominated on the basis of specific skills that they 
will bring to the panel. 

Page 17



 
 

o A quorum shall be four members 

o The chair must be an elected member and will be elected by majority 
vote.  

o All decisions will be made by a majority vote and in instances of there 
being no majority, the chair will gain the power to make one casting 
vote.  

 

2.11 It should be noted that the basis for the Grants Panel remain unchanged in that 
they are an advisory group.  The Panel’s recommendations will be presented 
to CWHC for initial approval and then to full Council at its annual budget setting 
meeting.  

2.12  In recent years the Chair of the Grants Panel adopted a cross-party approach 
to the constitution of the group.  This approach has worked well, and it is 
proposed that it should be continued. As such, it has been incorporated into the 
proposed TOR.  

2.13 Any surplus as decided by Council will be ring fenced for requests arising during 
the year. 

2.14 Approaches to the Council to access this funding after the main grants 
meetings in November/December will be considered by an extra ordinary 
meeting of the Grants Panel and their recommendations taken to CWHC to be 
determined. 

2.15 A quorum of 6 of the 11 members of the CWHC (the majority) must agree with 
each allocation. 

3. Options analysis and proposal 

3.1 Option 1 Agree the recommended proposals for the new TOR set out in 
Appendix B.  

3.2 Option 2: Agree the alternative proposal for the new TOR set out in Appendix 
C. 

3.3 Option 3: Keep the existing historic TOR with two essential minor amendments 
to reflect the Committee Process. Eg change Cabinet to CWHC.   

3.4 The adoption of the TOR is needed to appoint members to the Grants Panel in 
order that applications seeking funding in 2023/24 can be considered.  

3.5 If the TOR are not adopted, the Panel will not be able to meet and in the 
absence of alternative arrangements the assessment of allocations will be 
delayed which will impact on the determination of the awards for 23/24 and 
decisions regarding the 23/24 budget.  

 

4. Financial implications 

4.1 The determination of the Terms of Reference for the Grant Funding Panel has 
no direct financial implications. 

4.2 The budget for the 2023/24 grants allocation was maintained at £215,900. In 
addition, there was also a carry forward from 2022/23 of £24,331 from the 
main grants budget and a carry forward from the Councillors Better 

Page 18



 
 

Neighbourhood Grant Budget of £1,450. This provides a total budget of 
£241,681. 

5. Risk considerations 

5.1 If the TOR are not adopted the Panel will not be able to meet. In the absence 
of alternative arrangements, the assessment of allocations will be delayed.  A 
delay would have an impact on the ability to award funding in a timely manner 
at the start of the financial year and would have repercussions for the VCS. 
This would have a negative effect on the council relationship with this sector as 
well as impacting on the reputation of the Council. 

5.2 If option 2 is favoured, all Panel members would be from the CWHC. This would 
mean that these Panel members cannot vote at CWHC. This would enable only 
7 members to vote on the Committee. As a result there is a risk of not achieving 
a quorum at CWHC.  

5.3 If option 3 is favoured, the Grants Panel membership would be based on the 
existing membership of the 2023/2024 panel. Additional members would be 
invited to join the panel based on specific skills that they will bring to the panel. 
There is a risk that the Panel may not be politically representative.  There is 
also a risk of criticism If the membership does not change from year to year as 
this may lead to bias.  

6. Procurement considerations 

6.1 N/A 

7. Legal considerations 

7.1 Legal have been consulted.   

8. Other considerations 

8.1 Councillors on the Panel will be asked to register/declare any interests before 
considering the applications and making any recommendations. This will be 
added to the Terms of Reference. 

8.2 In addition to the recommendations to the CWHC re grant allocations the 
panel will also detail the Council support given to agencies eg 
accommodation at a reduced rent, parking permits and officer support.  The 
panel will also provide information regarding other funds that recipients 
receive from other sources.  

8.2 The VCS in Spelthorne provides services to a diverse range of people from 
families and young people to older residents. They offer crucial services to 
those who are experiencing hardship or are vulnerable or marginalised.   This 
sector also promotes the benefits of volunteering and community engagement 
and the positive impact that volunteering can have on individuals and the 
community.  

9. Equality and Diversity 

9.1 The Grant funding programme is open to all sections of the community, minority 
groups, user groups, and faith communities.  The Panel take care when 
reviewing applications to ensure that a fair mix of organisations supporting all 
aspects of our communities will benefit.  

10. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

Page 19



 
 

10.1 Grant recipients will be encouraged to engage with the council’s Climate 
Change and Sustainability specialists to explore ways of adopting sustainable 
working practices and supporting climate change issues.  

11. Timetable for implementation 

11.1 The Grants Panel TOR will need to be added to the Council Constitution. The 
recommendation from CWHC regarding the TOR will go to Standards 
Committee on 4 October. Council will then consider this on 19 October. 

12. Contact 

12.1 Lisa Stonehouse L.stonehouse@spelthorne.gov.uk  

Background papers: There are none. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A Grants Panel Historic Terms of Reference  
Appendix B Grants Panel Proposed Terms of Reference- Option 1 
(Recommended Option) 
Appendix C Grants Panel Proposed Terms of Reference – Option 2 
Appendix D Grants Panel Proposed Terms of Reference  - Option 3  

Page 20

mailto:L.stonehouse@spelthorne.gov.uk


 

 

APPENDIX A  
 

GRANTS PANEL HISTORIC TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
1. Purpose of the Panel  
 
The Grants Panel provides an opportunity for people with specialist skills and knowledge 
to contribute to the development of the community, voluntary and faith sector by 
granting annual and one-off funding.  
 
The Grants Advisory Panel is designed to ensure that Spelthorne Council meets the 
highest standards of grant-making and consistently supports those organisations which 
support delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities and enhance the quality of life in 
the borough.  
 
It will: 
 
a) assess grant applications and make recommendations as to whether they should be 

funded 
 
b) maintain an overview of the reach of Spelthorne Council’s grant-making and suggest 

ways in which any gaps might be addressed 
 
c) Review the performance of grant recipients on an annual basis where a Service Level 

Agreement is in place 
 

d) Signpost applicants to alternative sources of funding 
 

e) Co-ordinate regular events to promote funders and grant sources to the CVS sector 
 
2. Terms of Reference 
 
The Terms of Reference for the Grants Panel are: 
 
a) A minimum of 3 elected members and three Spelthorne Council officers with relevant 

skills or knowledge will comprise the panel 
 
b) These will be appointed to the panel by being proposed and seconded by existing 

panel members and following a vote of existing members. Members should be 
nominated on the basis of specific skills that they will bring to the panel. 

 
c) a quorum shall be four members 
 
d) the chair must be an elected member and will be elected by majority vote 
 
e) all decisions will be made by a majority vote and in instances of there being no 

majority, the chair will gain the power to make one casting vote 
 

Page 21



 

 

f) the panel will meet at least once a year, though “virtual” meetings may be held via 
telephone or email exchange at any time. The quorum and voting rules will still 
apply and, normally, at least 5 working days will be allowed from the start to the 
conclusion of such meetings, in order to allow an adequate opportunity for all Panel 
members to take part.  

 
g) panel members will be expected to attend at least 50% of “physical” meetings. 

Members missing three consecutive meetings without giving good reason may be 
deemed to have resigned and their position may be filled 

 
h) the panel may invite anyone to attend a meeting(s) to give specialist input 

 
i) the annual revenue grants process will be subject of a report to Cabinet and 

acceptance by Full Council at its annual budget-setting meeting 
 

 

Page 22



APPENDIX B 

Grants Panel Draft Proposed Terms of Reference – Option 1 

(Recommended Option) 

 

1. Purpose of the Panel 

The Grants Panel provides an opportunity for people with specialist skills and 

knowledge to contribute to the development of our community, voluntary and faith 

sector by granting annual and one-off funding. 

The Grants Panel is designed to ensure that Spelthorne Borough Council meets the 

highest standards when considering applications and awarding grants and 

consistently supports those organisations which help to deliver the Council’s corporate 

priorities and enhance the quality of life in the Borough. 

It will: 

a) assess grant applications and make recommendations to the Community 

Wellbeing and Housing Committee (CWHC) as to whether they should be 

funded. 

 

b) maintain an overview of the impact and accessibility of Spelthorne Council’s 

grant-making processes and suggest ways in which any gaps might be 

addressed. 

 

c) Review the performance of grant recipients on an annual basis where a Service 

Level Agreement is in place. 

 

2. Terms of Reference 

 

The Terms of Reference for the Grants Panel are: 

a) 5 councillors with relevant skills or knowledge will be members of the Panel. 
2 officers will attend meetings to advise the panel as required.  

b) The Chair or the Vice Chair of the CWHC will be Chair of the Grants Panel.  

c) The remaining four positions on the Panel will be filled by Councillors with 

relevant skills or knowledge. They will be nominated by the four political group 

leaders of the political parties not represented on the Panel. This will ensure 

that there is a cross party and cross committee approach to the constitution of 

the Panel. 

d) The Chair of the Grants Panel will be nominated at the first Community 

Wellbeing & Housing Committee of the municipal year.  Nominations for the 

other four Panel members will be made by the political group leaders in 

advance of the meeting. 

 

Page 23



e) A quorum shall be 3 Councillors. (2 officers will be present in an advisory 

capacity). 

 
f) Councillors on the Panel will be asked to register/declare any interests before 

considering the applications and making any recommendations. 
 

g) All decisions will be made by a majority vote and in instances of there being no 

majority, the Chair will gain the power to make one casting vote. 

 

h) The Panel will meet at least once a year. 

 

i) The Panel may invite anyone to attend a meeting/s to give specialist input. 

 

j) A report will go to full Council at its annual budget setting meeting to determine 

the revenue grant funding recommendations put forward by the Grant Funding 

Panel. 

 

k) Extraordinary approaches for financial support may be considered at any time 

throughout the year but may not be determined within a pre-election period.  

One-off in year awards may be determined by the Community Wellbeing and 

Housing Committee rather than by Council.   

 

Page 24



APPENDIX C 

Grants Panel Draft Proposed Terms of Reference – Option 2 

 

1. Purpose of the Panel 

The Grants Panel provides an opportunity for people with specialist skills and 

knowledge to contribute to the development of our community, voluntary and faith 

sector by granting annual and one-off funding. 

The Grants Panel is designed to ensure that Spelthorne Borough Council meets the 

highest standards when considering applications and awarding grants and 

consistently supports those organisations which help to deliver the Council’s corporate 

priorities and enhance the quality of life in the Borough. 

It will: 

a) assess grant applications and make recommendations to the Community 

Wellbeing and Housing Committee (CWHC) as to whether they should be 

funded. 

 

b) maintain an overview of the impact and accessibility of Spelthorne Council’s 

grant-making processes and suggest ways in which any gaps might be 

addressed. 

 

c) Review the performance of grant recipients on an annual basis where a Service 
Level Agreement is in place. 
 

 

2. Terms of Reference 

The Terms of Reference for the Grants Panel are: 

a) 5 elected members with relevant skills or knowledge will comprise the panel. 2 

officers will attend the meetings to advise the Panel as required. Two of the 

members on the Panel will be the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Community 

Wellbeing & Housing Committee. The Chair of the Panel will be the Chair of 

the Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee.  

 

b) The Community Wellbeing & Housing Committee will nominate the remaining 

3 Panel members which should reflect a cross party approach to the 

constitution of the Panel. 

 

c) The nominations will be made by the Community Wellbeing & Housing 

Committee at their first meeting of the municipal year. 

 

d) A quorum shall be three elected Councillors. (2 Spelthorne officers will be 

present in advisory capacity as required).  

Page 25



e) Councillors on the Panel will be asked to register/declare any interests before 
considering the applications and making any recommendations. 
 

f) All decisions will be made by a majority vote and in instances of there being no 

majority, the Chair will gain the power to make one casting vote. 

 

g) The Panel will meet at least once a year. 

 

h) The Panel may invite anyone to attend a meeting/s to give specialist input. 

 

i) A report will go to full Council at its annual budget setting meeting to determine 

the revenue grant funding recommendations put forward by the Grant Funding 

Panel. 

 

j) Extraordinary approaches for financial support may be considered at any time 

throughout the year but may not be determined within a pre-election period.  

One-off in year awards may be determined by the Community Wellbeing and 

Housing Committee rather than by Council.   

Page 26



 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

Grants Panel Draft Proposed Terms of Reference - Option 3  
 

1. Purpose of the Panel  
 
The Grants Panel provides an opportunity for people with specialist skills and 
knowledge to contribute to the development of the community, voluntary and faith 
sector by granting annual and one-off funding.  
 
The Grants Panel Advisory Panel is designed to ensure that Spelthorne Borough 

Council meets the highest standards when considering applications and awarding 

grants and consistently supports those organisations which help to deliver the 

Council’s corporate priorities and enhance the quality of life in the Borough. 

 
It will: 
 
a) assess grant applications and make recommendations to the Community 

Wellbeing and Housing Committee (CWHC) as to whether they should be 
funded. 

 
b) maintain an overview of the reach of Spelthorne Council’s grant-making and 

suggest ways in which any gaps might be addressed 
 
c) Review the performance of grant recipients on an annual basis where a Service 

Level Agreement is in place 
 

d) Signpost applicants to alternative sources of funding 
 

e) Co-ordinate regular events to promote funders and grant sources to the CVS 
sector.  

 
 
2. Terms of Reference 
 
The Terms of Reference for the Grants Panel are: 
 
a) A minimum of 3 elected members and three Spelthorne Council officers with 

relevant skills or knowledge will comprise the panel 
 
b) These will be appointed to the panel by being proposed and seconded by 

existing panel members and following a vote of existing members. Members 
should be nominated on the basis of specific skills that they will bring to the 
panel. 

 
c) a quorum shall be four members 

Page 27



 

 

 
d) the chair must be an elected member and will be elected by majority vote 

 
e) Councillors on the Panel will be asked to register/declare any interests before 

considering the applications and making any recommendations. 
 
f) all decisions will be made by a majority vote and in instances of there being no 

majority, the chair will gain the power to make one casting vote 
 

g) the panel will meet at least once a year, though “virtual” meetings may be held 
via telephone or email exchange at any time. The quorum and voting rules will 
still apply and, normally, at least 5 working days will be allowed from the start 
to the conclusion of such meetings, in order to allow an adequate opportunity 
for all Panel members to take part.  

 
h) panel members will be expected to attend at least 50% of “physical” meetings. 

Members missing three consecutive meetings without giving good reason may 
be deemed to have resigned and their position may be filled 

 
i) the panel may invite anyone to attend a meeting(s) to give specialist input 

 
j) the annual revenue grants process will be the subject of a report to CWHC and 

acceptance by Full Council at its annual budget-setting meeting. 
 
 
 

Page 28



  

 
 

 

 

Community Wellbeing & Housing Committee  

 

26 September 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title Community Centre Saturday Opening (A continuation) 

Purpose of the report To recommend to Committee 

Report Author Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely & Julia Sibley 

Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

 

Exempt No     

Exemption Reason  

Corporate Priority Community 

Recovery 

Service delivery 

 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked to:  

1. continue to endorse the Council’s approach of expanding 
the Community Centres provision to take account of the 
impact of current cost of living, energy and social isolation 
crisis on our communities. 

2. continue with the provision of opening at least one   
community centre within the borough of Spelthorne for 6 
days a week, which is currently in place throughout the 
winter period, engaging centre staff to provide the 
additional provision. 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 

1. Summary of the report 

Spelthorne Borough Council (SBC) seeks to extend our current response to 
the current cost of living and energy crisis with a proportionate and 
appropriate offer that will support the most in need, utilising its existing assets 
and staff resource, whilst minimising the impact on SBC budgets. 
 

 
2. Key Issues 

2.1 During last winter, the health sector experienced their usual winter surge of 
presentations at primary care and in the acute settings with an increase in 
falls and frailty and other environmental related or triggered conditions. This 
last winter saw the same winter pressures with the additional burden of 
vulnerable members of the population being at further risk from the impacts of 
cost of living and the energy crisis. 

2.2 The Council has a continued opportunity to maximise its assets that were 
normally underutilised at weekends, to help create ‘warm places’ for our 
residents by opening the open Fordbridge Centre and Greeno Centre on 
alternative Saturdays. The offer includes a subsidised hot lunch and hot 
drinks to take home and also includes opportunities for social interaction, 
watching TV, reading the paper, playing games or light exercise. A shower is 
also made available at the Greeno Centre, which is available for those 
residents whose families or carers can support when using the shower.  

2.3 Staff have been asked to cover these shifts by consent and both HR and 
Unison were consulted. Independent Living could not offer shift swaps as staff 
capacity is low, but full-time staff receive a time and a half payment for 
Saturday work. Staff are required to have food preparation, manual handling, 
and safeguarding training to cover this provision. 

2.4 If the 6 day a week offer continues there will be a significant additional cost, 
which may attract external funding, but will ultimately be the subject of a 
growth bid adding up to 20% of the budgeted costs of running a community 
centre. This described in more detail in the options element. 

2.5 In the event that the additional provision is agreed then the number of 
attendees will be limited to those who can transport themselves, as Spelride 
does not operate on a Saturday. Independent Living does have access to 
minibus transport but vehicle capacity and trained staff availability are limiting 
factors. 

2.6 If the current provision is extended, we would need to consult with relevant 
staff and review the agreement which is in place, as currently we are paying 
staff overtime to cover the opening of the centres. If this offer is going to be 
extended for a fixed period or a permanent arrangement, then we would need 
to consider amending staff contracts to include Saturday opening and giving a 
day off during the week to offset, which will also have implications for other 
community centre staff.  

2.7 Uptake of the current provision has been steady each week, with 
approximately 60 meals per week being provided at the Fordbridge Centre, 
and approximately 15 meals per week at the Greeno Centre.  

Page 30



 
 

2.8 Agreeing to open 6 days a week for a pre-determined period comes with 
some risk, particularly considering the current budget constraints, we risk 
raising client expectations and ultimately disappointing if we subsequently 
decide to return to 5 day a week provision. 

2.9 The current offer was agreed to be extended until the end of September 2023 
by Community Wellbeing and Housing Committee, hence why this paper is 
coming to the Committee.  

3. Options analysis and proposal 

 

3.1 Option 1 

Do not extend the current temporary provision and risk increased admissions, 
loneliness and increased resident poverty and associated adverse health and 
wellbeing impacts. 

Option 2 (preferred option) 

Endorse the continuation of the 6 days a week Winter Warmer approach (with 
a new name) and then review in 6 months. The additional cost profile added 
to Independent Living budget would be in the region of £42,015. Which takes 
into account a 20% increase in overall operating costs including energy costs. 
Making enhanced payments for staff who work Saturdays. Independent Living 
understand that there may be some appetite to fund this provision via the 
SBC cost of living fund potentially for this period, of a further 6 months though 
there is also provision within the NWS Alliance Prevention Fund. It needs to 
be recognised to enable this initiative to become a permanent provision a 
growth bid would need to be submitted to embed the additional budget 
implications. Our community centres are a highly regarded and a well-
attended resource, unfortunately they require a subsidy to operate. Service 
managers have had an indication from both Greeno and Fordbridge centre 
managers that they would be willing to continue to work alternate Saturdays 
to enable the 6 day a week offer to continue. Therefore, the projected budget 
increase we feel is a reasonable estimation of the projected additional 6-
month cost of shared Saturday opening. This approach relies heavily on staff 
goodwill and is likely to result in increased burn out and staffing and rota 
issues. 

Option 3  

Endorse the continuation of the 6 days a week Winter Warmer approach and 
then review in 6 months. Making contractual changes to staff contracts. The 
additional cost profile added to the Independent Living budget would include 
all items in Option 2, this would be in the region of £32,784.  

Option 4 

Defer a decision based on weather conditions and new central government 
response. 

 

4. Financial implications 

4.1 The Council were awarded non recurrent funding from the NWS Alliance 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) of £132,000 where we assigned an 
element (£30,000) to this project. A proportion of this funding is already 

Page 31



 
 

earmarked for preventative services delivered by SBC. There was no 
deadline to spend this by March 2023 but there is an expectation of timely 
use. Officers originally recommend that £30,000 be assigned to this project, 
with the option to increase this based on attendance and need.  

4.2 A number of funding options have been briefly discussed including the use of 
the SBC specific Cost of Living provision or additional use of NWS Alliance 
Prevention funding, officers suggest that either of these would be appropriate 
use for this short term initiative, but a permanent offer would require an 
ongoing  growth bid in the region of £32,784 - £42,015 p.a. It is not being 
suggested at this stage that a growth bid is submitted and it is not clear that 
Independent Living would have the approved budget envelope to embed as 
business as usual. 

 

5. Risk considerations 

5.1 Risks of inaction are well documented nationally and ultimately inaction will 
lead to potential poverty, loneliness and increased presentation at primary 
care and increased hospital admissions. 

5.2 These initiatives and additional responsibilities that are created by this 
approach draw heavily on our limited resources. There are staffing 
implications here that need to be funded, potentially from external sources. 

5.3 If this is decided to be a permanent provision, then a growth bid will ultimately 
be needed to cover the ongoing costs once short-term funding has been 
utilised.  

5.4 Staff welfare must be considered, at all levels, a service rarely opens out of 
hours without additional support being required. 

 

6. Legal considerations 

6.1 Section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides specific authority for 
the Council to incur expenditure on anything which is in the interests of and 
will bring direct benefit to its area. The preferred option would support 
residents who are suffering from the cost of living crisis and are at risk of 
social isolation thereby benefitting the local community. 

6.2 As the report has noted, there are employment implications for staff who are 
employed by the Council at these centres.  A variation may be required to 
employment contracts of these staff to reflect the change in working hours. 

 

7. Procurement considerations 

7.1 There are none 

 

8. Other considerations 

8.1 The Council can agree and endorse this project, but although warmly 
received as a principle this still requires ‘buy in’ from our residents.  

 

9. Equality and Diversity 

Page 32



 
 

9.1 This initiative potentially only ‘scratches the surface’ of this issue with many 
residents who are house bound and have little engagement with our services 
may struggle to access this offer. In the first instance we may only offer this 
provision to centre members. This autumn we are conducting a 
comprehensive service survey including feedback from members and 
residents. 

 

10. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

10.1 The proposed project will be informed by our sustainability and climate 
change team who will support in relation to cost saving and energy initiatives. 
This will include practical tips on energy saving. 

 

11. Timetable for implementation 

11.1 The Council are proposing that this initiative be instigated by 1st October 
2023. 

 

12. Contact 

12.1 Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely 01784 448616 

 
Background papers: There are none 
 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 

 

COMMUNITY WELLBEING & HOUSING COMMITTEE 

 

   

26th September 2023 

 
 

 
1. Summary of the report 

1.1 Committee is asked to note the diversity of health and wellbeing roles in the area 
and recommend an approach or position statement. 

1.2 Committee is asked to consider opportunities in this system space. 

 

Title North West Surrey Role Mapping Risks and Opportunities 

Purpose of the 
report 

To note and make recommendations. 

Report Author Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely & Karen Sinclair 

Ward(s) Affected All Wards 

Exempt No 

Exemption Reason N/A   

Corporate Priority Community, Environment and Service Delivery 

Recommendations 

 

Committee is asked to: 

 To note the range of roles that support residents through a 
Health and Wellbeing lens. Appendices 1 & 2 

 To note the current approaches to our populations through this 
lens by major stakeholders including North West Surrey 
Health and Care Alliance and Surrey County Council. 

 Make recommendations in relation to the level of engagement 
expected with these similar initiatives. 

 Consider opportunities offered as a system partner. 

Reason for 
Recommendation 

Initiatives from both the NWS Health and Care Alliance, the 
Integrated Care System (Surrey Heartlands) and Surrey County 
Council are progressing at a pace, not least as some of our areas 
have some of the highest health inequalities in the county and 
some of the most diverse and ‘left behind’ communities. This year 
Stanwell, Ashford and Sunbury will be in receipt of particular 
focus from both health partners and the county. It is the intention 
of this report to promote debate and ultimately frame our 
corporate approach to these external drivers and initiatives. There 
is no doubt that these initiatives in their broadest sense seek to 
improve outcomes/experience for residents, objectives which 
drive our corporate plan and all our interactions with residents. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

 

 

2. Key issues 

2.1 The North West Surrey Health & Care Alliance have identified 12 Neighbourhoods 
across their footprint, 3 of which are in Spelthorne. The exact boundaries of these 
have yet to be decided. They plan to operationalise their Ashford and Stanwell 
neighbourhood this summer. SBC officers have suggested that a great deal of this 
work is done already in virtual teams but alongside their neighbourhood 
aspirations the Alliance are carrying out a strategic estates review with a view of 
physical hosting these neighbourhood teams. The neighbourhood principles are: 

o Team to respond to local population, addressing.  
health inequalities and increasing focus on the wider determinants of health 

o All services provided in the neighbourhood team.  
o Learning by doing culture. 
o Change should be identified and delivered closest to residents. 
o No referrals between team members. 
o Proactive support for residents. 
o Seamless transfer between business units where transfer is required. 
o Standardised process for analysing local population need, to allow 

variability in team in terms of size and roles. 
o Flexibility for local team to design new and different team roles. 

 

All neighbourhoods are set up around a core vision: 

 

To introduce multi-disciplinary teams from across the Alliance partners with a 
single operational lead. This is about bringing together a broad range of 
professionals with different skills to work as a team on a day-to-day basis to serve 
the needs of a defined ‘neighbourhood’. This means a geographical footprint that 
the Alliance view makes sense to residents, for example: Ashford and Stanwell.  

  
What difference will this make? 

  
For staff: 

Staff will work alongside and learn from colleagues from different 
disciplines. 
There will be less time spent making referrals and it will be easier to 
discuss someone’s care with the most appropriate professional. 
It will be easier to put in place different solutions from a wider network of 
support for the people you are caring for.  
It will be easier to access and share the information you need to care for 
people. 

  
For local people: 

They will see the right professional at the right time, closer to home. 
They won’t have to tell your story repeatedly to different professionals. 

Their health and wellbeing will be looked after, and we will link you to support 
that can help with everything from diet and mental health to housing and 
community support.  

 

Page 36



3 
 

To improve outcomes for patients, service users and carers, particularly 
those with possible multi-morbidities and complex long term health 
conditions, by overcoming issues of fragmentation through seamless care 
pathways and better coordination of care  
To remove referrals between primary and community care, reducing primary 
care appointments. 

To ensure residents with long term conditions are aware of the individual that 
is coordinating their care and knows how to contact someone for advice.   

Better connections to the local voluntary and community sector, giving 
people a wider range of support.  
The driver behind this approach is mainly derived from the Fuller Stocktake 
report which is attached as Appendix 7. It must be noted here that there is 
currently no additional capacity in the system if these initiatives increase 
demand for services. 

 

 

  

  

2.2 On 17th May this year Surrey County Council Thriving Communities team 
presented their Delivering in Partnership: Towns proposal to the Integrated Care 
Board – Surry Heartlands. This set out a number of principles in relation to Surrey 
County Council’s approach to its strategic towns of which Surrey County Council 
has identified 27. These towns have been chosen based on LOSA date which is 
basically a data driven geographical concept, a Lower Layer Super Output Area. 
Surrey County Council have identified 5 of these strategic towns where they are 
starting now. The towns are Addlestone, Ashford, Chertsey, Leatherhead and 
Sunbury. In the next 6 months the stated objectives of this initiation phase are: 

 

 Gain in depth understanding of the town and stakeholders, including work to 
date. 

 Make clear link with the plan for the integrated neighbourhood health & care 
teams. 

 Convene and lead multi-agency town ‘crews’. 

 Town crews will collate insights and intelligence and will work with the 
community and wider stakeholders to establish key priorities for the town.  

Page 37



4 
 

 Engagement teams (from across agencies) will work with the crew to support 
the design and delivery of community engagement work. 

 Town crews will connect, align and co-ordinate others as required to deliver 
outcomes for the town – spotting opportunities for prototyping and new 
initiatives.  

 Local Councillors will be kept engaged informally, will link town co-ordinators to 
local stakeholders, inform priorities, advocate the partnership model and 
support progress.  Town sponsor and town co-ordinator will ensure regular 
engagement points with Councillors. 

 Identify who will play which ongoing roles after the initial set up phase (with 
the set up phase “sponsors” and “coordinators” changing / moving on). 

 

 
   

2.3 Work is underway to understand and ensure the most sensible alignment between 
the strategic town footprints and the developing geographies for integrated 
neighbourhood health and care teams – so there is a clear shared language and 
definitions that can support analysis of data insights (using LSOAs as building 
blocks) and local planning and delivery. Service leads at SBC feel that this cannot 
be done without us. 

 

Page 38



5 
 

  

 

2.4 A number of the roles referred to in both the NWS Roles PowerPoint and word 
document (Appendices 1 & 2) are currently hosted by Woking Borough Council. 
The majority of them are externally funded with both redundancy and pension cost 
underwritten by the NWS Health and Care Alliance. With WBC subject to a 
Section 114 process, Commissioners have requested that service managers 
reach out to partners to explore opportunities. Colleagues in Woking are required 
to make all efforts to downsize their service regardless of whether these services 
are externally funded. 

Woking alongside Spelthorne have been very innovative in the health space and 
have created a number of system embedded initiatives which not only improve 
resident/patient outcomes but stand as exemplars nationally. There is a risk that 
these roles will be lost if hosting cannot happen in partner organisations. Officers 
have been informally approached by Woking Borough Council in relation to 
hosting these posts. See Appendices 4 & 5 to see the impact both out of hospital 
and in the community of these roles. 

2.5 The wider community services landscape is also in a period of flux, not least with 
the Woking impact on discretionary services but also the change in strategic 
direction for community services at Elmbridge Borough Council and a new CEO at 
Runnymede Borough Council. 

 

3. Options analysis and proposal 

3.1 The options considered within this report are: - 

Option 1 – Approve a proactive approach to neighbourhoods. 

 The Council adopt the approach of placing ourselves at the heart of the 
neighbourhood agenda. 

 Commit resource and officer time ensuring full engagement with both 
NWS Health and Care Alliance and Surrey County Council Thriving 
Communities, ensuring we are the lead, place-based voice. 

 Use the Spelthorne Healthy Communities Partnership Board as the 
conduit for these initiatives with the potential to expand the remit to 

Page 39



6 
 

include more voluntary sector input and representation from Economic 
Development and Housing. See Appendix 8 for Terms of Reference. 

Option 2– do nothing (not recommended) 

4. Financial implications 

. 
4.1 There are none bar additional officer resource 

  
5. Risk considerations  

5.1 Doing nothing in this emerging landscape risks a lack of local control a diminishing 
of our impact and reach in our communities and a potential destabilisation of our 
discretionary services. See Appendices on both Borough Discharge and Social 
Prescribing outcomes. 

5.2 The additional officer time committed to these initiatives is not funded through 
either Alliance or SCC workstreams, this also stands for VSCE colleagues where 
the expectation is also for these groups to engage with the initiatives in place. 

6. Procurement considerations 

None identified. 

7. Legal considerations  

7.1 None yet identified, if post hosting was considered, then there will be TUPE 
considerations and potential Service Level Agreements 

8. Other considerations 

Does Spelthorne Borough have the physical capacity or the corporate appetite to 
host additional roles. 

9. Equality and Diversity 

9.1 The Surrey County Council ‘no one left behind’ is the key driver for this initiative 
and seeks to create a universal offer for all residents. 

9.2 Improved Access to primary and secondary care, when and where it’s needed by 
residents is the driver for the NWS Health and Care Alliance. 

10. Sustainability/Climate Change Implications 

10.1 Both initiatives seek to maximise resource locally and both encourage active 
travel and 15 minute town principles. 

11. Timetable for implementation 

11.1 These projects are underway externally, we are seeking guidance through MAT to 
act.    

12. Contact 

12.1 Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely. 

 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 NWS Roles Powerpoint 
Appendix 2 NWS Role Mapping 
Appendix 3 SCC role descriptions 

Page 40



7 
 

Appendix 4 WBC BDSO data 
Appendix 5 SPLW data 
Appendix 6 GP Funded Roles 
Appendix 7 Fuller Stocktake 
Appendix 8 Spelthorne Healthy Communities Partnership Board Terms of Reference 
 
 
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Resident

SPLW

BDSO

MOW Driver

DFG Case 
Manager

Wellbeing 
Advisor

GPHIMS

Local Area 
Coordinator

Community 
Prevention 

Officer

Community 
Link Officer

Community 
Prevention 

Coordinator

Locality

Care 
Coordinator

Dementia 
Navigator

Community 
Connectors

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NWS Community of Practice – Role Mapping – DRAFT 1 Dec 2022 

  
Who do you work 
with? E.g. criteria, 
age,  

 
 
 
Coverage 
e.g., 
working 
hours 

What geographical 
area does your role 
cover?  E.g. 
(Borough 
boundaries, North 
West, PCN 
boundaries) 

(New) 
How many 
colleagues are in 
the role? (e.g. by 
Borough / PCN / 
hub?) 

How is the 
service 
accessed?  
E.g. GP 
referral, 
Hospital 
Discharge, 
self referral 
(not 
applicable 
to all roles) 

How long do 
you work with 
individuals?  
E.g. open 
ended, time 
restricted 

If not working 
1:1 with 
residents how 
does your role 
link with those 
roles that do? 

 
Who hosts 
your role?  
E.g. who do 
you work for? 

 
How is your 
work and the 
success 
monitored? E.g. 
spreadsheets, 
online system 
recording 

 (New) 
Is there an 
expected 
caseload 
associated 
with the 
role? 

Social 
Prescribing 
Link Worker 

18+ Registered with a 
GP surgery in North 
West Surrey 

 
 
Monday – 
Friday 9am 
– 5pm 

Work to PCN 
boundaries meaning 
some patients 
referred live outside 
North West Surrey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
12 across North 
west made up of a 
mix of ARRS 
funded PCN link 
workers and better 
care funded posts 
dealing with non-
GP referrals in the 
main all employed 
by Borough’s. 

Referral by 
GP practice 
staff or via 
Adult Social 
Care, 
Hospital 
Discharge 
and 
GPimhs  

 6 weeks 
although this 
can be longer 
where beneficial 
in terms of 
achieving 
objectives. 

N/A 

Mainly Social 
Prescribers are 
hosted by 
Districts and 
Boroughs with 
some also 
employed by 
PCN’s directly 

Surrey Social 
Prescribing 
spreadsheet for 
those hosted by 
D&B’s and Emis 
for those 
employed by 
PCN’s. 

 
 
Decided by % 
of patient list 
size identified 
in DES 
contract.  1.2 
– 1.6% of 
patients for 
each PCN.  
Nationally 
caseload 
guidance 
suggests 250 
a year per link 
worker  

Care 
Coordinator 

Cohort of patients 
identified by GP 
surgery 

 
 Surgery / PCN 
boundaries 

 
Via GP 
surgery 

    
  Unknown 

Wellbeing 
Coordinators 

Over 65’s (With 
exceptions) (Frailty, 
Dementia and Chronic 
illness) 

 
Monday – 

Friday 9am 
– 5pm 

Spelthorne, Woking, 
Runnymede, 
Elmbridge, Surrey 
Heath and Guildford. 

 
 
 
 
 
9 (3 x bedser hub, 
3 x Thames 
medical, 3 x 
Ashford 

Referral via 
GP’s and 
Hospital 

Patient receives 
long term care - 
not discharged. 

N/A 

 
 

CSH 

 No cases are 
closed so all 
referred can 
get back in 
contact if 
further 
support 
needed.  
Cases triaged 
by Matron 
and then 
divided up 
between the 
team (bedser 
hub) 

Community 
Connector 

  
 

  
 

      
   

Dementia 
Navigator 

 

People effected by 

dementia or mild 

cognitive impairment 

  

 

 

Phone line 

7 days a 

week, Local 

support 

Mon to Fri 

Surrey, for NW 
Woking, Spelthorne, 
West Elmbridge, 
Runnymede  

 

Self-referral, 
professional 
referral  

Open ended and 
as frequently as 
they require 

We work 1:1 with 
residents but will 
other providers 
to support and 
individual for the 
bet outcome 

 
 

Alzheimer’s 
Society 

 
 
Online recording 
system 

 

Community 
Link Worker 

 Work with local 
assets and with SCC 

Monday – 
Friday 9am 

– 5pm 
 

Priority 
neighbourhoods 
based on LSOA 

 Canalside/G
WP 

 
 

4       

Surrey County 
Council 

  

P
age 45



NWS Community of Practice – Role Mapping – DRAFT 1 Dec 2022 

 Cobham/Do
wnside 

 Walton North 

 Walton South 

Local area 
Coordinator 

anyone that needs 
handholding/support in 
Sheerwater/Maybury 
with a greater focus on 
actually supporting 
people to go to 
activities by going with 
them initially  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Monday – 

Friday 9am 
– 5pm 

Sheerwater & 
Maybury 

 
 

2 

 No referral 
as such, via 
introduction  

  N/A 

Surrey County 
Council 

Stories  

  Borough 
  Discharge 
  Support 
Officer 

NWS residents in 
hospital that are 
MFFD 

 
 
 
Monday – 

Friday 9am 
– 5pm 

North West Surrey 

 
 
 

4 
Hospital 
staff refer 
those being 
discharged 
to BDSO’s. 

Varies 
depending on 
discharge date 
but usually very 
short term and 
supported 
further by Social 
Prescribing (6 
weeks) post 
discharge. 

N/A 

 
 
 
 

Woking 
Borough 
Council 

  

  Communities 
Prevention 
co-ordinator 

Communities and 

Prevention 

Coordinators are 

based within each 

adult social care 

locality team. They 

support locality team 

to source community 

based support. They 

produce a database 

of community 

services in each 

area and work with 

the local community 

to address gaps 

identified in each 

area. 

Age 18+ 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Mon-Fri 

9am – 5pm 

 

NW Surrey: Woking, 
Runnymede, 
Spelthorne and 
Surrey Heath 

1 part time (18 
hour) role per 
locality team 

Issue-based 
referrals 
received 
from adult 
social care 
teams, 
although 
anyone 
welcome to 
get in touch 

Issue-based 
referrals 
received from 
locality teams. 
Information is 
passed to the 
referrer, rather 
than direct client 
work 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Working with the 
practitioners 
within the adult 
social care 
teams, who hold 
the case. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Surrey County 
Council 

 
Recorded on 

LAS (adult social 

care system) and 

reports run on 

this.  

Also SharePoint 

page detailing 

wider team and 

projects  

Communities 
and Prevention - 
Home 
(sharepoint.com) 
 

 
Referrals 
received, but 
no case 
holding. 

 

P
age 46

https://orbispartnerships.sharepoint.com/sites/communities_and_prevention
https://orbispartnerships.sharepoint.com/sites/communities_and_prevention
https://orbispartnerships.sharepoint.com/sites/communities_and_prevention
https://orbispartnerships.sharepoint.com/sites/communities_and_prevention


 

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Woking Borough Council 

Borough Discharge Support Officers 

report 2022-23 

 

 
 

Page 49



2 
 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referral numbers 2022-23 

 

 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals by borough 2022-

23 

 

 

4
7 9 8 6

10
13

18 20

9 11
7

12
17 15

9

17
21

41
44

53
60

38

24

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

No
. o

f P
ati

en
ts

2022/23

Summary of Referrals to Borough Discharge
- Patient Assistance

Clincal assessment unit referrals Discharge referrals

Elmbridge 115

Guildford 3

Out of area 17

Runnymede 98

Spelthorne 135

Surrey Heath 12

Woking 112

Page 50



3 
 

 

 

 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals by gender 2022-23 

Elmbridge, 115

Guildford, 3

Out of area, 17

Runnymede, 98Spelthorne, 135

Surrey Heath, 12

Woking, 112

Borough Dischrage Support Officer Referrals by borough 2022-23

Elmbridge Guildford Out of area Runnymede Spelthorne Surrey Heath Woking

Page 51



4 
 

 

 

 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals by ward 2022-23 

258

234

220

225

230

235

240

245

250

255

260

1

BDSO Referrals by gender 2022-23

Female Male

Page 52



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals – patient lives alone 

2022-23 

1

10

14

1

14

6

5

9

4

43

12

7

7

30

5

72

11

7

13

24

7

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

Acute Medicine Unit (AMU)

Alexandra Ward

Ambulatory Emergency Care Unit (AECU)

Aspen Ward

Aspen Ward and HDU

Birch Acute Cardiac Unit

Bradley Unit

Cedar Ward

Chaucer Ward

Cherry Ward

Chestnut Ward

Falcon Ward

Heron Ward

Holly Ward

Kingfisher Ward

Maple Ward

May Ward

Swan Ward

Swift Ward

Willow Ward

Wordsworth Ward

BDSO referrals by ward 2022-23

Page 53



6 
 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals – patient is a carer 

2022-23 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals – Services referred 

to 2022-23 

50

130

307

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Don’t know

No

Yes

BDSO Referrals - Patient lives alone 2022-23

Cared For, 111

Carer, 12

Not a Carer, 334

Not recorded - N/A, 33

BDSO referrals - Patient is a carer 2022-23

Cared For Carer Not a Carer Not recorded - N/A

Page 54



7 
 

 

Borough Discharge Support Officer referrals – Homesafe plus 

Services referred to 2022-23 

 

44

430

3

45

3 2 2 8

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

BDSO Referrals - Services signposted to 2022-23

38

154

29

147
155

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

1

BDSO referrals - Homesafe plus services referred to 2022-23

Community Meals Homelink/Handyperson Service Housing Social Prescribing Telecare

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



SOCIAL PRESCRIPTION

Surrey Dashboard

(Q4, Jan - Mar 2023)

*Created by ASC - CCSS

Page 57



East Surrey Guildford and
Waverley

Northwest Surrey Surrey Downs

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

To
ta
l N
ew
 R
ef
er
ra
ls

1,706

917

533

298

New Referrals by Place, 2022/23 Q4 Area
East Surrey
Guildford and Waverley
Northwest Surrey
Surrey Downs

Quarter
2022/23 Q3
2022/23 Q4

Page 58



0% 20% 40%

% 1st Reason for Ref

East Surrey

Guildford and
Waverley

Northwest Surrey

Surrey Downs 76

345

309

343

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

% 2nd Reason for Ref

251

62

300

343

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

% 3rd Reason for Ref

224

301

196

57

1st Reason for referral
Emotional Wellbeing
Low level mental health and wellbeing suppo..

2nd Reason for referral
Being Healthy
Emotional Support
Loneliness / Social isolation
Social Isolation or loneliness

3rd Reason for referral
General Advice
Opportunities for social interaction
Others

Reasons For Referral
(Figures are % of the top 3 )

Quarter
2022/23 Q4

Page 59



0.0%10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

% 1st Service Signposted

East Surrey

Guildford and
Waverley

Northwest Surrey

Surrey Downs 39

116

98

1st Service Signposted
Borough Council Services
Social Activities
Debt/Benefits Advice
Wellbeing advisor advice

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

% 2nd Service Signposted

82

80

35

2nd Service  Signposted
Befriending
Social Activities
CAB (citizen Advise Bureau).
Heart UK

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

% 3rd Service  Signposted

77

73

31

3rd Service  Signposted
British Heart Foundation
CAB
Carer Support
Community Mental Health Services.

Service Signposted
(Figures are % of the top 3 )

Quarter
2022/23 Q4

Page 60



East Surrey
Guildford and
Waverley Northwest Surrey Surrey Downs

Ca
re
 C
ol
la
bo
ra
ti
ve
 P
CN

N
or
th
 T
an
dr
id
ge
 P
CN

Ta
nd
ri
dg
e

Ea
st
 W
av
er
le
y 
PC
N

G
R
IP
C 
PC
N

G
ui
ld
fo
rd
 E
as
t 
PC
N

W
es
t 
of
 W
av
er
le
y 
PC
N

Co
co
 P
CN

Co
co
 P
CN
 (L
in
k 
W
or
ke
r)

R
un
ny
m
ed
e

SA
SS
E 
1

SA
SS
E 
2

SA
SS
E 
3

Sp
el
th
or
ne

W
al
to
n 
PC
N

W
B
U

W
H
A
M

W
IS
E 
1

W
IS
E 
2

W
IS
E 
3

W
ok
in
g

D
or
ki
ng
 D
H
C 
Fe
de
ra
ti
on

Ea
st
 E
lm
br
id
ge
 P
CN

El
m
br
id
ge

Ep
so
m
 a
nd
 E
w
el
l

EP
SO
M
 P
CN

Le
at
he
rh
ea
d 
PC
N

M
ol
e 
V
al
le
y

M
ol
e 
V
al
le
y 
an
d 
B
an
st
ea
d

W
al
to
n 
Pr
ac
ti
ce
s

W
ey
br
id
ge
 a
nd
 H
er
sh
am
 P
CN

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900 882

35

219

129
104

81
101

198

122
161

267

356

89 94 90 73 91
63

1

158

31 17
41 51

New Referrals by PCN Quarter 2022/23 Q4

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) – What is it? 
 
Under the Primary Care Network DES, networks will be able to recruit new 
roles to expand their care team with NHSE&I with a forecast of 26,000 
additional staff working in general practice by 2024. This means that on 
average, each PCN will have approximately 7 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff 
in 2020/21 rising to 20 FTE by 2023/24 through the ARRS, with the funding 
covering the salary and on costs, although PCNs can use the allocated 
funding to cover the costs of recruiting, apart from management fees, from a  
third party. 
 
The aim of the scheme is to build and utilise the additional roles to solve the 
workforce shortage in general practice. Whereas the funding will be for new 
roles being introduced within PCNs, each network will have the flexibility to 
determine which roles form a core list they require based on their patient 
population requirements. 
 
Although some roles were to be 70% reimbursable when the ARRS was first 
released, it has since been agreed that all roles are 100% reimbursable, 
affording the extra flexibility for networks. 
 
A) ARRS 2019 
 
During 2019, each PCN had to agree a workforce baseline which indicated 
the number of staff they employed within the then five ARRS roles of: 
 
Clinical Pharmacists – work as part of the multidisciplinary team in a patient-
facing role to clinically assess and treat patients using their expert knowledge 
of medicines for specific disease areas. The Clinical Pharmacist can be a 
prescriber or undertake training to become one. The maximum reimbursable 
amount for this role per annum is £55,670 and there is no limit on the number 
eligible for reimbursement. 
 
Social Prescribing Link Workers – connect people to community groups and 
agencies for practical and emotional support and complement other 
approaches such as care navigation and active signposting.  The maximum 
reimbursable amount for this role per annum is £35,389 and there is no limit 
on the number eligible for reimbursement. 
 
Physician Associates – are healthcare professionals with a general medical 
education who work alongside and under the supervision of GPs providing 
clinical care as part of a wider multidisciplinary team. The maximum 
reimbursable amount for this role per annum is £53,724 and there is no limit 
on the number eligible for reimbursement. 
 
First Contact Physiotherapists - can assess, diagnose, treat and manage 
musculoskeletal (MSK) problems and discharge a person without a medical 
referral. Those working in these roles within a network can be accessed 
through direct referral by staff in GP Practices. The maximum reimbursable 

Page 63



amount for this role per annum is £55,670 and one WTE per PCN is eligible 
for reimbursement unless the patient population is over 100,000 where two 
will be eligible. 
 
Community Paramedics (funding not available until 2021) -  this role is 
currently being developed. Some networks have already trialled this role 
where the request for a home visit was triaged by the GP and then home 
visits, apart from those which were complex or end of life care, were 
undertaken by the paramedic. Some of the outputs were that more patients 
were managed at home and there was earlier intervention by the 
multidisciplinary team. 
 
During 2019/20, the maximum amounts for each role in addition to the 
baseline workforce were restricted to nine months of the annual 
reimbursement amounts, given that posts can only be filled from 1 July 2019. 
 
B) ARRS 2020 and Beyond 
 
During this current year (2020-21), each network has been allocated a 
maximum reimbursement sum based on its weighted population. Following 
feedback from networks who wanted greater flexibility in the roles they could 
recruit, there have been 6 more roles added to the ARRS. During 2020-21, 
PCNs can recruit and employ the following roles as part of the scheme: 
 
Care Co-ordinator – works closely with GPs and other primary care 
professionals within the network to identify and manage a caseload of 
identified patients, making sure that appropriate support is made available to 
them and their carers. The maximum reimbursable amount for this role per 
annum is £29,135 and there is no limit on the number eligible for 
reimbursement. 
 
Pharmacy Technician – will complement the work of the Clinical Pharmacist 
by using their pharmaceutical knowledge to undertake activities such as 
audits, discharge management and prescription issuing. This role will be 
under the supervision of the Clinical Pharmacist and will be part of a wider 
PCN pharmacy team. The maximum reimbursable amount for this role per 
annum is £35,389 and one WTE per PCN is eligible for reimbursement unless 
the patient population is over 100,000 where two will be eligible. 
 
Dietitian – diagnoses and treats diet and nutritional problems. Dietitians will 
support PCNs with patients of all ages with their food intake to address 
diabetes, food allergies, coeliac disease and metabolic diseases. The 
maximum reimbursable amount for this role per annum is £53,724 and there 
is no limit on the number eligible for reimbursement. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Coach – will use health coaching skills to support 
people with self-identifying existing issues and encourages proactive 
prevention of new and existing illnesses. They may provide access to self-
management education, peer support and social prescribing. The maximum 

Page 64



reimbursable amount for this role per annum is £35,389 and there is no limit 
on the number eligible for reimbursement. 
 
Nursing Associate (from 1 October 2020) – is a new support role that bridges 
the gap between healthcare assistants and registered nurses. The role will be 
part of the PCN nursing team under the supervision of a nurse. The maximum 
reimbursable amount for this role per annum is to be confirmed. 
 
Occupational Therapist – supports people of all ages with problems arising 
from physical, mental, social or development difficulties. OTs can help GPs 
across the network with frail patients, those with complex needs, those who 
live with chronic physical or mental health conditions and who need help with 
managing anxiety or depression. The maximum reimbursable amount for this 
role per annum is £53,724 and there is no limit on the number eligible for 
reimbursement. 
 
Podiatrist – can help diagnose and treat foot and lower limb conditions. 
Podiatrists provide assessment, evaluation and foot care for a wide range of 
patients. The maximum reimbursable amount for this role per annum is 
£53,724 and there is no limit on the number eligible for reimbursement. 
 

 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 1 
 

Page 67



Introduction from Dr Claire Fuller 
 

For generations, primary care has been at the heart of our communities. Health visitors, community 
and district nurses, GPs, dentists, pharmacists, opticians, and social care workers are among the 
most recognisable of a multitude of dedicated staff delivering care around the clock in every 
neighbourhood in the country. 

Every day, more than a million people benefit from the advice and support of primary care 
professionals – acting as a first point of contact for most people accessing the NHS and also 
providing an ongoing relationship to those who need it. This enduring connection to people is what 
makes primary care so valued by the communities it serves. 

Despite this, there are real signs of genuine and growing discontent with primary care – both from 
the public who use it and the professionals who work within it. 

Inadequate access to urgent care is having a direct impact on GPs’ ability to provide continuity of 
care to those patients who need it most. In large part because of this, patient satisfaction with 
access to general practice is at an all-time low,i despite record numbers of appointments: the 8am 
Monday scramble for appointments has now become synonymous with patient frustration.  

At the same time, primary care teams are stretched beyond capacity, with staff morale at a record 
low.ii In short, left as it is, primary care as we know it will become unsustainable in a relatively short 
period of time. It is against this backdrop that the Chief Executive of the NHS, Amanda Pritchard, 
asked me to lead this major stocktake of integrated primary care from the ground up.  

I want to start by thanking all primary care staff – and staff right across the health and care system – 
for their magnificent efforts during the pandemic. Since the inception of the NHS, there has not been 
a generation of leaders and staff who have faced the kind of overwhelming challenges as those 
working in our system today, and despite the very real toll COVID-19 may have taken on them 
personally and professionally, they will forever be able to wear their contribution as a badge of 
honour.  

When I agreed to lead this work in November 2021, I don’t think I fully appreciated the amount I 
would personally gain. As a GP for over 25 years, a clinical commissioning group (CCG) chair, a CCG 
accountable officer and an integrated care system (ICS) CEO designate, I have been involved in 
numerous system reviews and reforms. However, I do not think I have ever had such an opportunity 
to share ideas, listen and learn from others, build relationships, and challenge my own 
understanding, as I have during this process. It’s been a pleasure to have met and worked with so 
many fantastic colleagues during the past six months. 

During that time, we have had over 12,000 individual visits to our engagement platform, over 1.5 
million Twitter impressions of #FullerStocktake, and close to 1,000 people directly involved through 
workstreams, roundtables and one-to-one meetings. The levels of engagement have been unlike 
anything I have seen for many years – all driven by a collective desire to create the conditions by 
which primary care can be supported to thrive in the future. 

A moment of real opportunity  
 
Despite the current challenges, there is real optimism that the new reforms to health and social care 

Page 68



 
 

 3 

– if properly supported to embed and succeed – can provide the backdrop for transforming how 
primary care is delivered in every community in the country.  
 
We are weeks away from the inception of the new ICSs and with it the biggest opportunity in a 
generation for the most radical overhaul in the way health and social care services are designed and 
delivered. Primary care must be at the heart of each of our new systems – all of which face different 
challenges and will require the freedom and support to find different solutions. In an extraordinary 
and welcome display of common purpose across health and care, each of the CEOs of the 42 new 
systems has added their signature to this report. 

But these new systems alone can’t fix all the problems: we need action at every level. This report 
sets out a limited number of recommendations for NHS England, the Department of Health and 
Social Care (DHSC), and other national bodies that will enable local systems to drive change in their 
communities and neighbourhoods. This includes ensuring future national policy is designed to 
support and enable local systems to do what they need to do rather than apply a one-size-fits-all 
approach.  

Support, enablement and respect have been among the most common themes throughout this 
stocktake. Emerging from the pandemic, it is clear that we all want to build on the best elements of 
our response to COVID-19 and work together wherever possible: delivering what works locally in 
step with our communities. As leaders, we have to ensure that we lead in an inclusive, 
compassionate and respectful way: setting the right tone will accelerate and embed the kind of 
change we all want to see delivered.  

Some – but not all – of the changes needed in this report will require us to grow overall primary care 
capacity. Additional investment is by no means the main or only answer to the issues we need to 
solve: we will also need to think differently about how we design integrated primary care services 
that better anticipate the needs of different groups of people.  

It is vital that we retain continuity as one of the core strengths of primary care, but we must also 
recognise that people’s needs and expectations are changing. On the one hand, a growing number 
of people have complex needs, such as multiple long-term conditions, requiring highly personalised 
care and support. On the other, many people who are normally in good health would prioritise 
faster access to advice from a wider group of professionals.  
 

A vision for integrating primary care  
 
At the heart of this report is a new vision for integrating primary care, improving the access, 
experience and outcomes for our communities, which centres around three essential offers:  

• streamlining access to care and advice for people who get ill but only use health services 
infrequently: providing them with much more choice about how they access care and ensuring 
care is always available in their community when they need it 

 
• providing more proactive, personalised care with support from a multidisciplinary team of 

professionals to people with more complex needs, including, but not limited to, those with 
multiple long-term conditions 

 
• helping people to stay well for longer as part of a more ambitious and joined-up approach to 

prevention.  

Page 69



 
 

 4 

 

It is the collective judgement of the people who have engaged closely in our stocktake that the 
vision for integrating primary care set out in this report is achievable if we create both the conditions 
to enable locally led change and the supporting infrastructure to implement it: indeed, as 
demonstrated by many of the case studies contained in this report, systems are already working in 
this way.   

Primary care has always had an entrepreneurial and innovative spirit. We have recently seen the 
significant, rapid and life-saving adaptations that were made during the pandemic response; 
including through the COVID-19 vaccination programme delivered together with local authorities, 
pooling resources to establish COVID-specific ‘hot hubs’, safeguarding care home and domiciliary 
visits, ensuring community pharmacy kept its doors open to the public throughout, and shifting to 
virtual consultations to protect patients, carers and staff.    

Locally led, nationally enabled change is a consistent theme in these pandemic success stories. This 
report offers a vision for transforming primary care led by integrated neighbourhood teams that will 
be supported to lead change, drawing from the wealth of positive change already underway.  

There are no quick fixes, and we have tried through this report to set out pragmatic actions for ICS 
leadership teams that move us further on the journey, as well as some broader recommendations 
for national policymakers that will unlock the longer-term changes we need to see.  

Improving the experience of accessing primary care is essential to restoring the confidence of the 
public, who rightly expect us to be there when they need us. Even more important in my view, is the 
opportunity this new vision for integrating primary care presents in helping people to stay well for 
longer. This will not only have the greatest impact on the future sustainability of health and care 
services overall but can genuinely help to transform lives.  

All too often, the vast majority of our effort is focused on treating people who have already become 
sick. We need to create a sense of urgency around providing proactive care and improving outcomes 
for our population – not only will this help our citizens to lead more active and happier lives, it will 
help us to reduce the pressure on the NHS and social care in the medium to long term.  

This is only achievable if we work in partnership addressing health inequalities through the 
Core20PLUS5 approach, and taking action to address the wider determinants of health.  
 

Aligned leadership  
 
In my view, ICSs come just at the right time, tasked with achieving four aims: improving outcomes in 
population health and healthcare; tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access; 
enhancing productivity and value for money; and helping the NHS support broader social and 
economic development.  

The ICS CEOs believe that achieving these aims will only be possible if we support and develop a 
thriving integrated primary care system. This will need to be built as locally as possible, drawing on 
the insights, resourcefulness and innovations of patients and their carers, local communities, local 
government and NHS teams, other care providers and wider system partners, as well as, of course, 
primary care leaders. This philosophy of partnership is at the heart of my report.  

I am hugely grateful to our workstreams and task and finish groups. By rapidly bringing together a 
wide range of experience and expertise, they informed our understanding of the current landscape 

Page 70



 
 

 5 

and what the future should look like. For those who gave us 10 minutes or 10 hours of your time, 
your input has helped shape this report and I hope you are encouraged by its conclusions. Thank you 
particularly to all our workstream and task and finish group chairs: Tracey Bleakley, Dr Nick 
Broughton, Glen Burley, Daniel Elkeles, Professor Kevin Fenton, Professor Simon Gregory, Dr 
Jaweeda Idoo, Fatima Khan-Shah, Joanna Killian, Dr Neil Modha, Thirza Sawtell, Dr Harpreet Sood, 
Jan Thomas, and Rob Webster. I’d also like to thank Adam Doyle, who has acted as a critical friend 
throughout the production of this report.  

This report has also been informed by the findings of a King’s Fund literature review on levers for 
change in primary care, commissioned as part of the stocktake, which has provided invaluable 
insights into what truly drives change: a leadership culture that promotes an enabling and 
psychologically safe environment, and the capacity, time and skills for people to learn and 
experiment.  

Leading this work has been a privilege, and meeting so many enthusiastic and solution-focused 
leaders across the health and care system has solidified my optimism for the future.  

This report is only the start. To implement these recommendations requires the continued input and 
effort of my ICS CEO colleagues, the integrated care board (ICB) and integrated care partnership 
(ICP) chairs and primary care leaders, as well as the support of our system partners. I look forward to 
being on this journey with you all. 

  

Page 71



 
 

 6 

Building integrated teams in every neighbourhood  
 

At the heart of the new vision for integrating primary care is bringing together previously siloed 
teams and professionals to do things differently to improve patient care for whole populations.  

This is usually most powerful in neighbourhoods of 30-50,000, where teams from across primary 
care networks (PCNs), wider primary care providers, secondary care teams, social care teams, and 
domiciliary and care staff can work together to share resources and information and form 
multidisciplinary teams (MDTs) dedicated to improving the health and wellbeing of a local 
community and tackling health inequalities.  

The development of PCNs, established just prior to the pandemic, has already enabled many 
neighbourhoods to make progress in this direction. However, we’ve heard consistently that a lack of 
infrastructure and support has held them back from achieving more ambitious change.   

Healthy Hyde PCN employs 34 people across many different disciplines, all of which are working to 
tackle health inequalities.  The PCN covers 77,000 people, over 60% of whom live in the top two 
deciles of most deprived postcodes in England.  It has six health and wellbeing coaches working in 
foodbanks, schools, allotments, and providing ESOL lessons to asylum seekers and refugees. Healthy 
Hyde is working with local voluntary organisations, statutory bodies and community services to 
provide a full holistic approach to a person’s needs.  It has set up groups that are run weekly and 
monthly by professionals ranging from GPs, nurses, social care, citizen’s advice bureau, health 
visitors and mental health professionals. These groups run for people aged 0 to 100.  The team has 
clinical leadership, managerial and admin support, and works together to identify people via clinical 
systems, local knowledge and working with multiple agencies. 

Integrated neighbourhood ‘teams of teams’ need to evolve from Primary Care Networks (PCNs), and 
be rooted in a sense of shared ownership for improving the health and wellbeing of the 
population.  They should promote a culture of collaboration and pride, create the time and space 
within these teams to problem solve together, and build relationships and trust between primary 
care and other system partners and communities.  
 
This requires two significant cultural shifts: towards a more psychosocial model of care that takes a 
more holistic approach to supporting the health and wellbeing of a community; and realignment of 
the wider health and care system to a population-based approach – for example, aligning secondary 
care specialists to neighbourhood teams.  

The key ingredient to delivering this way of working is leadership – fostering an improvement culture 
and a safe environment for people to learn and experiment. We heard consistently throughout our 
engagement that a ‘top-down’ approach of driving change and improvements risks alienating the 
workforce and communities and hinders development of trusting relationships: something 
emphasised in the King’s Fund literature review. 

Many ICSs are already thinking about how to ensure neighbourhood teams have, for example, 
sufficient leadership capacity and support to develop a collaborative multiprofessional workforce.  
Delivering integrated neighbourhood teams will require a step-change in progress, with a systematic 
cross-sector realignment to form multi-organisational and sector teams working in neighbourhoods.  
For example: 

Page 72



 
 

 7 

• full alignment of clinical and operational workforce from community health providers to 
neighbourhood ‘footprints’, working alongside dedicated, named specialist teams from 
acute and mental health trusts, particularly their community mental health teams 

• making available ‘back-office’ and transformation functions for PCNs, including HR, quality 
improvement, organisational development, data and analytics and finance – for example, by 
leveraging this support from larger providers (eg GP federations, supra-PCNs, NHS trusts) 

• a shared, system-wide approach to estates, including NHS trust participation in system 
estates reviews, with organisations co-locating teams in neighbourhoods and places. 
 

This will not only unlock improvements in patient care but will also help individual PCNs and teams 
better manage demand and capacity, building resilience and sustainability.  

Integrated clinical pharmacy service in Wirral 

Staff working across PCNs and the hospital trust in Wirral Place deliver a shared clinical pharmacy 
service, hosted by Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The service was co-
designed and developed with partners, resulting in an environment where those actually delivering 
the service are ‘system thinkers’ focused on the patient, regardless of their organisation. Their ability 
to link with clinicians and other professionals across the local system through the shared use of IT 
systems, as well as the trust and relationships which have developed, support the speedier 
resolution of any issues which might impact on patients and the local population – team members 
are always cognisant of the impact their actions may have in another part of the system. 

As well as supporting members of general practice to resolve medicines issues encountered, the 
joint pharmacy team are also invaluable assets in the day-to-day running of practices. They have 
their own clinical caseload, run medicines optimisation clinics and support implementation of 
medicines safety strategies. While working in hospital, they undertake clinical ward rounds across a 
range of specialties, with a particular focus on admissions and frailty to support safe transfer of care.  

The service grew out of an initial pilot, involving just four members of staff, to a team of 25 within 
just two years. Some staff rotate across the sectors, while some are permanently working in split 
roles across both sectors. 

The pace at which these teams can be built will depend in part on the pace at which we can deliver 
the national and system changes set out later in this report. However, with the right support, we 
heard that systems should aim to have them up and running in neighbourhoods that are in the 
Core20PLUS5 most deprived areas by April 2023.  

This will not only ensure that we can start to better support those communities who need it most, it 
will create the necessary pace and ambition to move to universal coverage throughout 2023 and by 
April 2024 at the latest.  
 

Working with people and communities 
 
Throughout the stocktake, we heard that the PCNs that were most effective in improving population 
health and tackling health inequalities, were those that worked in partnership with their people and 
communities and local authority colleagues. This partnership focuses on genuine co-production and 
personalisation of care, bringing local people into the workforce so that it reflects the diversity of 
local communities, and proactively reaching out to marginalised groups breaking down barriers to 
accessing healthcare. 

Page 73



 
 

 8 

 

Community Health and Wellbeing Workers (CHWWs): Westminster City Council, Pimlico Health at 
The Marven and Imperial College London have launched a pilot scheme of trained CHWWs to run 
from May 2021 to June 2023. CHWWs visit local households monthly, irrespective of need, and 
deliver a broad range of activities including promotion of healthy lifestyles, reminders for 
vaccinations and screening and management of chronic diseases. In this pilot, CHWWs are available 
to talk to residents about their health, offer social care support where appropriate and inform them 
about available services, whether they have existing health issues or not. This proactive, universal 
and comprehensive role helps to capture health and social care issues as they arise. CHWWs in the 
pilot have identified undiagnosed serious mental illness and domestic violence and improved 
cervical screening uptake in Muslim women. Due to the initial success of this pilot scheme, this 
model is now being adopted by the National Association of Primary Care to promote nationally. 

We have a fantastic opportunity to build on the outreach model that characterised the COVID-19 
vaccination programme: developing meaningful and sustained relationships within communities, 
using the expertise, resources and relationships held by the NHS and local government, voluntary, 
community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector teams and community groups and leaders to 
understand the local social, demographic and cultural factors. 

As a part of this drive, our workforce needs to be given the time and resources to meaningfully 
undertake this work. Outreach should not be considered a bolt-on to the day job – it’s central to 
people’s roles and should be reflected in protected time and job plans, for both current and 
upcoming roles.  

Growing Health Together in east Surrey is a place-based approach to prevention and health 
creation, which uses ecological design principles to support population health, health equity and the 
environment. Clinicians in each PCN have regular protected time to work collaboratively with local 
citizens and partners to co-create evidence-based conditions for health and wellbeing. Solutions 
differ according to the location, reflecting the unique priorities, needs and strengths of each 
community. Listening to and building relationships within communities form the foundation of this 
work. Quality improvement methodology is utilised, and the work is supported by population health 
data and a community of practice. A comprehensive independent evaluation is underway, exploring 
quantitative and qualitative impacts on both the health system and wider community.    

ICSs have a real opportunity to use their scale and convening power to foster meaningful 
partnerships between sectors, emphasising the importance of health and care organisations as 
anchor institutions: for example, with schools and higher and further education (HFE) providers, 
through outreach, work experience programmes and apprenticeships, to drive the recruitment of a 
more diverse and representative primary care workforce, including health inclusion groups, people 
with a learning disability and autistic people.   

Working in this truly integrated way with people and communities offers the NHS a real opportunity 
to deliver more effective and sustainable change and paves the way for a much bigger prize: creating 
the space and opportunity to do far more on the most pressing challenge for health and social care 
systems: tackling the determinants of ill health and helping people to live happier and healthier 
lifestyles.   

Ultimately, these integrated teams – rooted in the community and working across the spectrum of 
health and care – are the central conduit through which we can deliver the new model of integrated 
care.  
 

Page 74



 
 

 9 

Stort Valley and Villages PCN has created a Young People's Social Prescribing Service to support 
young people aged 11 to 25 with their physical and mental health. The PCN developed this model 
because they recognised that services for young people can be confusing and difficult to navigate. 
The service aims to signpost young people and their families to appropriate community-based and 
statutory services after they have been assessed by a GP; support general wellbeing among young 
people and their families in the local community; highlight how effective community interventions 
can be within PCNs; offer preventative interventions such as the Family Wellbeing Health Coaching 
Service provided by Mental Wellbeing in Schools; and work alongside other services with a view to 
creating activities and groups for those who have been referred. The service has had over 500 
referrals since its creation in September 2019 and received positive feedback from young people and 
their families.   

  

Page 75



 
 

 10 

Delivering the change our patients and staff want and need: 
improving same-day access for urgent care 
 

The two issues that have dominated the debate throughout this stocktake are the need for people to 
access same-day urgent care and the need for GPs to be able to provide continuity of care to those 
patients who need it most. 

In reality, they are two sides of the same coin. Creating a resilient infrastructure and resilience 
around GP practices that enables same-day access to urgent care to be delivered creates space to 
deliver more continuity of care.  

To get there, we are going to need to look beyond a traditional definition of primary care and 
understand that NHS urgent care is what patients access first in their community – typically from 
their home or high street and without needing a GP referral. That might be online advice on 
symptoms and self-care, going to a community pharmacy, a general practice appointment, an urgent 
treatment centre, or the 111 out-of-hours clinical assessment service. As part of accessing urgent 
care, a patient may then get immediate referral into emergency care or go online or talk to 
somebody before walking into a hospital emergency department.   
 
People waiting for an appointment with their GP prioritise different things. Some need to be seen 
straightaway while others are happy to get an appointment in a week’s time. Some people – often, 
but certainly not always, patients with more chronic long-term conditions – need or want continuity 
of care, while others are happy to be seen by any appropriate clinician, as long as they can be seen 
quickly. 
  
Equally, for some patients it is important to be seen face to face while others want faster, more 
convenient ways of accessing treatment and there is emerging evidence of a growing appetite (even 
before COVID-19) for patients to access care digitally.iii  

We saw throughout the stocktake some fantastic case studies of practices and PCNs that are already 
working as a single urgent care team, including allied health professionals, community nursing teams 
and others to offer their patients the care appropriate to them when they call the surgery or book an 
online appointment.  
 
The Foundry Health Centre is a single practice PCN in Sussex with 28,500 patients. Since 2019, it has 
sought to improve access and keep patients out of hospital. Patients are streamed using systematic 
triage and clinical judgement and identified as green (generally well – continuity less important), 
amber (long-term conditions – continuity important; appropriate reactive care delivered), and red 
(vulnerable or complex – continuity paramount; proactive care given). Combined with creating a 
dedicated ‘green’ site for those needing on-the-day access (and ‘amber’ overflow), capacity across 
the multi-site practice is easier to plan and manage, drawing on MDTs so patients see the right 
health professional at the right time.   
 
This approach has improved continuity of care, improved access to a range of services through 
partnership working, and better utilised additional roles, such as pharmacists, nurses, paramedics, 
physiotherapists, social workers and those working on behalf of the voluntary sector. Compared 
with other practices on South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit programmes, and 
based on the GP clinical system data, Foundry’s top 5% of frequent attenders only use 30% of GP 
consultations compared with 40% elsewhere, and it has reduced the number of appointments being 
‘avoidable’ from 9% to 6.5% in late 2021, with other primary care services reporting an average of 
27% as ‘avoidable’ appointments.  

Page 76



 
 

 11 

 

Managing access for multiple services at a practice level is achievable and scalable if we create the 
right conditions for this to happen. Working together to make better use of capacity and workforce – 
as well as creating resilience to deal with demand – can not only help to significantly relieve the 
burden on practices struggling to cope with finding appointments for their patients, it can also help 
to reduce demand on other urgent care services across the NHS.iv   

The truth is, we can create a much better offer for all our patients, but it requires effective 
collaboration across primary care and with the wider health system in a way that we have not 
managed to date.  

Implementing the vision for integrating primary care will enable local systems to plan and organise a 
coherent urgent and emergency care service by developing an integrated urgent care pathway in the 
community.  
 
Humber Coast and Vale ICS implemented an Operational Pressures Escalation Levels (OPEL) system 
to understand and manage demand and capacity across primary care. Practices log their on-the-day 
status online, and if a practice reports capacity issues, the CCG will support and work with it to find a 
solution. 

Though some practices were initially wary of reporting their data, through the relationships of trust 
between GPs and the CCG and the intelligence that OPEL provides to the system, practices now 
confidently report their pressures. 

This has been particularly successful in Vale of York CCG where all 11 practices report OPEL 
escalations daily, following three years of relationship development. York CCG's practices have now 
gone further to improve this system by developing their own anticipated pressures reporting system 
through the GP Federation, to get ahead of expected demand and capacity issues the day before. 
Thanks to joint contributions to a shared budget, practices can confirm additional resources are in 
place before a busy day even begins. 

 
How do we get where we need to be? 
 
We should start by recognising the current system is not fit for purpose – it is fragmented and 
causing frustration among patients and staff. In the face of rising demand, we need to move to a 
streamlined and integrated urgent care system – and primary care has an essential role in achieving 
this.  
 
We need to enable primary care in every neighbourhood to create single urgent care teams and to 
offer their patients the care appropriate to them when they pop into their practice, contact the 
team or book an online appointment. 
 
The importance of improvement support, data and leadership is central to making this work and we 
set out some key recommendations on these later in this document.  
 
Critically, we need to create the conditions by which they can connect up the wider urgent care 
system, supporting them to take currently separate and siloed services – for example, general 
practice in-hours and extended hours, urgent treatment centres, out-of-hours, urgent community 

Page 77



 
 

 12 

response services, home visiting, community pharmacy, 111 call handling, 111 clinical assessment – 
and organise them as a single integrated urgent care pathway in the community that is reliable, 
streamlined and easier for patients to navigate.  
 
This will require some shifts to national policy too, specifically the approach to NHS 111, which we 
heard via the stocktake can often result in duplication of effort for patients, carers and clinicians. At 
the moment, we do not have a clear and consistent way of counting and measuring same-day urgent 
access, or unplanned waits for routine appointments. NHS England should consider developing these 
to support local improvement activity, linked to its wider work with systems in bringing together a 
set of key primary care standards. 
 
The ultimate arbiters of the success of this approach will be our patients. We should measure 
patient satisfaction rates throughout this journey, and there should be a move to roll out the new 
National Patient Reported Experience Metric as quickly as possible. If patients are happier tomorrow 
than they are today because they are receiving more appropriate care when they need it, then we 
will be heading in the right direction.  
 

Personalised care for people who need it most 
 
Continuity of care, specifically the relationship between a named GP and their patient, is directly 
linked to improvements in patient experience and lower mortality, especially for more complex 
patients.v,vi  This is a core strength of primary care and we repeatedly heard the fundamental 
importance of this from staff across primary care and patients alike.   

As described earlier, not all patients want or need continuity of care; equally some patients may 
want continuity of care more generally but be happy to see different professionals as part of their 
overall care.  

By managing urgent care differently and supporting the growth and development of integrated 
neighbourhood teams, we can create the capacity for team-based continuity, focusing specifically on 
those people most likely to benefit – aligned to the Ageing Well agenda, for example.  

Determining which patients benefit most from more personalised continuity of care can depend on a 
range of medical, psychological or social reasons and should be determined through conversations 
with patients and using clinical judgement, as well as supported by risk stratification using the 
wealth of data increasingly available to primary care teams.  

A personalised care approach means ‘what matters to me, not what’s the matter with me’. We 
heard a strong message via the stocktake that we must start with people’s abilities and work with 
them to support self-care and self-management of complex and long-term conditions.  

This means shared decision-making with patients and carers and improving availability and usability 
of patient-held records – for example, ensuring that reasonable adjustments for people with a 
disability are seen and accessed by all people involved in their care. It also means the further 
planned expansion of personal budgets and building on the progress made to date in expanding the 
role of social prescribing in primary care teams.  

As integrated neighbourhood teams develop, they will then play a vital role in supporting people 
with multiple long-term conditions, who we know benefit from a team approach,vii drawing in 

Page 78



 
 

 13 

expertise from primary care, secondary care, social care providers and the VCSE sector to ensure 
there is comprehensive and co-ordinated care around the patient.   

Teams should be collocated and built around the needs of the local population, with a blended 
mixture of primary and secondary care expertise to provide holistic care for people with more 
complex and chronic long-term conditions. There should be easy access to a range of diagnostics 
from phlebotomy, electrocardiogram and spirometry to more complex diagnostics like MRI and 
endoscopy, without having to bring patients into hospitals, capitalising on the nationwide rollout of 
community diagnostic centres.  

Connecting Care for Children (CC4C) is a partnership between hospital and community health 
providers, GP federations, PCNs, local authorities, charities, patients and citizens in north west 
London. Nine child health GP hubs have been set up to provide an integrated child health model of 
care across multiple agencies and community-based services, with GPs and paediatricians providing 
specialist clinical input.  

MDTs come together to discuss and manage clinical cases, sharing learning on a regular basis. As 
these teams have matured, they have expanded and now also focus on quality improvement, 
planning and identifying opportunities for proactive, preventative care: for example, bringing 
together child health professionals and dental experts to improve children's oral health for the GP 
practice population. More than 35 CC4C systems have also been established across the UK.  

The programme can evidence that it has improved outcomes across patient and family experience of 
care; staff experience and learning; population health through preventative interventions; and 
reducing per-capita cost. 

 
At place level (which we recognise will often mean local authority footprints covering populations of 
around 250-300,000), neighbourhood teams working together and with wider system partners, will 
provide more intensive support to patients. This should consolidate the multitude of existing models 
and teams focused on discharge to assess, virtual wards, mental health crisis response, enhanced 
health in care homes and urgent community response to support people who are unwell to be cared 
for safely at home, and for those requiring hospital treatment, to ensure safe and effective transfers 
into and back from hospital. Carers – and the fantastic role they play as well as the additional 
capacity they provide – will be essential partners to these teams.  

This reorientation of our existing workforce to support our most vulnerable and complex patients to 
stay at home and access care in the community will, over time, contribute significantly to efforts to 
reduce growth in hospital demand and signal a shift away from a hospital-centric model of care that 
is no longer suited to the population we serve.   

We have seen some excellent examples of good practice from outreach work and joint MDTs for 
child health, to population-based approaches to management of chronic disease, and partnership 
working on end-of-life care. All these were characterised by strong relationships, trust and mutual 
understanding between primary and secondary care clinicians. Capacity and organisational 
development support for changing clinical models must be identified as part of the implementation 
of these new teams, supported by practical tools such as job planning and e-rostering across the 
whole workforce. 

  

Page 79



 
 

 14 

In Frimley, an anticipatory care model was introduced to support people with either moderate 
frailty with eight or more co-morbidities or moderate/severe frailty with no GP encounter in the last 
six months. The aims are to maximise people’s wellbeing, maintain independence and empower 
people to make their own decisions about care. 

People identified as eligible for anticipatory care have a holistic assessment and then comprehensive 
MDT review, which is led by a geriatrician. Recommendations from the MDT are based on an 
individual’s needs and wishes. The MDT brings together a range of professionals, including older 
people’s mental health services, social care and reablement, pharmacy, community health, 
occupational therapists, a geriatrician and the GP clinical lead for frailty. 

There are a range of interventions provided for people on the pathway, based on what matters to 
them. Typical interventions include medication reviews, falls prevention, social prescribing referrals, 
end-of-life planning, nutritional advice and referrals to VCSE services. Anyone in the MDT is able to 
input into the shared care record, which is then accessible to urgent care services. 

 
The enduring connection to people is what makes primary care so valued by the communities it 
serves: creating the conditions where we can use integrated neighbourhood teams to support 
practices by providing personalised care to those people with greatest need, and on-the-day urgent 
care where appropriate, keeps the connection in place for the future.  

Improving urgent care and providing more personalised care to those who need it the most will be 
central to improving the access issues that have beset the NHS for some time now. Beyond that – 
and just as importantly – it will create the backdrop and headroom for local systems and teams to 
work together with communities to tackle the wider determinants of health.  
 
Preventative healthcare  
 
As a nation, life expectancy since 2010 has been stalling, while the amount of time people spend in 
poor health has been increasing.viii This trend is driven in large part by wider socio-economic 
determinants and a failure to address the health inequalities that result, and it masks significant 
variability in outcomes, especially between more affluent and more deprived areas where healthy 
and overall life expectancy are lower. 
Primary care has an essential role to play in preventing ill health and tackling health inequalities, 
working in partnership with other system players to prevent ill health and manage long-term 
conditions.  

People in the most deprived areas of England develop multiple health conditions 10 years earlier 
than people in the least deprived areas.ix The incidence of multiple conditions is rising; without 
concerted, targeted responses in our most deprived communities, progress on inequalities in 
healthy life expectancy will continue to stall.   

We have known about the inverse care law,x where services are often under-resourced in areas with 
high deprivation compared to areas with no deprivation, for over 40 years, but efforts to address 
inequalities in the provision of GP services have not eradicated them.   

The Core20PLUS5 approach provides a focus for reducing healthcare inequalities across systems, 
identifying a target population comprising the most deprived 20% of the population of England (the 

Page 80



 
 

 15 

Core20) and other groups identified by data (plus groups), alongside five clinical priorities for action 
to reduce inequalities.  

Primary care already plays an essential role preventing ill health and tackling health inequalities.  
Through the stocktake, we have identified three areas in which primary care is taking a more active 
role in creating healthy communities and reducing the incidence of ill health: by working with 
communities, more effective use of data, and through close working relationships with local 
authorities.  

We know that health starts at home, and we need to continue to build on successful national 
programmes providing lifestyle advice, from stop smoking campaigns to ‘Couch to 5k’.  Alcohol 
awareness campaigns, national messaging and campaigns on improving health and wellbeing will 
also remain important.   

This needs to be matched with positive action in local communities; health coaches and social 
prescribing link workers provide a fantastic opportunity for neighbourhood teams to take a more 
active role in improving health, and where successfully incorporated into primary care, teams are 
transforming not just the lives of people and families they work with but also the culture and 
function of the clinical teams they work alongside. Where used most effectively, these roles can help 
form an effective bridge into local communities, building trust, connecting up services and 
galvanising the wealth of expertise in the VCSE sector.   

We heard very clearly through the stocktake that the wider primary care team could also be much 
more effectively harnessed, specifically the potential to increase the role of community pharmacy, 
dentistry, optometry and audiology in prevention, working together to hardwire the principles of 
‘making every contact count’ into more services. For example: 

• on early years and children’s services: working with nurseries to tackle dental caries in the 
under-fives and improve MMR vaccine delivery; working with school immunisation services 
on HPV vaccination uptake and child and adolescent mental health services; community 
health service teams improving diagnosis of autism and helping improve the health and life 
chances of children with special educational needs, as well as safeguarding   

• on cancer diagnosis: community pharmacy playing a more active role in signposting eligible 
people to screening and supporting early diagnosis, building on a number of successful 
pilots such as those from the Accelerate, Coordinate, Evaluate (ACE) programme 

• on positive lifestyle choices: eye checks where people are offered brief advice on alcohol 
and smoking and referred for smoking cessation as appropriate. 

Combined with insights drawn from the community, data can empower neighbourhood teams to 
increase uptake of preventative interventions while also tackling health inequalities by identifying 
those populations and groups that may currently be underserved.  
 

  

Page 81



 
 

 16 

Reena Barai, a community pharmacist in Sutton, proactively attended a Director of Public Health 
presentation on local health and social demographics where she learned of the higher than average 
rates of mental health problems and suicide among young people and males in Sutton when 
compared to the rest of London. 

Having been previously unaware of the severity of the issue locally, her pharmacy team immediately 
enacted a simple but crucial change in their dispensing behaviour – they endeavoured to check that 
any young person prescribed anti-depressants was asked how they were feeling and whether they 
felt the medication was helping. This opportunity to ask for help allowed many people to feel that 
they could talk to a pharmacist about their mental health and the pharmacy team were able to refer 
patients back to their GP if they felt they or the patient had concerns. 

 
The trick for ICSs will be to normalise this sort of interaction and subsequent intervention, rather 
than relying on individuals going the extra mile and stumbling across crucial insights. There is also 
scope for efficiencies in pharmacies being able to refer onward directly, eg to mental health or other 
neighbourhood services. 
At a place level, we have seen primary care increasingly working in partnership with local authorities 
(in particular public health and housing teams), local communities and other local system partners, 
to pool information and population health data. This means sharing expertise to understand what 
factors lead to poor health and wellbeing in their communities and agreeing how to work together 
proactively to tackle these. We have seen this type of joint working become commonplace during 
the pandemic, where a combination of national data tools, collaboration with local authorities and 
hyper-local engagement were critical success factors. This enabled teams to try different approaches 
to outreach and communications, get immediate feedback on what is working, and course-correct 
accordingly. This was essential in minimising the uptake gap by deprivation and ethnicity. 

We should build on this, specifically ensuring that we have data made available to integrated 
neighbourhood teams on uptake of key prevention and population health measures. This will 
contribute to the effective co-ordination  and delivery of vaccination and immunisation, screening 
and health checks at place, in line with national standards, working with NHS ICS partners, local 
authorities, in particular directors of public health and their teams, over the life course. 
 

Protect Now in Norfolk and Waveney is a proactive care model which focuses on building a detailed 
data profile of the most deprived populations and offering tailored health interventions to meet 
their needs. Building on a model called Covid Protect introduced during the pandemic, it is a 
clinically led collaboration of more than 20 local organisations and partners including local 
authorities and the VCSE sector. Through the scheme, 100% of those in the top 10% most deprived 
areas were contacted and information about 1,764 people (49%) was collated. During COVID-19, 
those who engaged with Covid Protect had statistically better outcomes in terms of COVID-19 
infections, mortality and admissions. This methodology has now been successfully expanded to 
encompass other areas such as vaccination uptake, falls prevention, pain management, diabetes 
prevention, cervical screening and IAPT uptake. 

 
At a system level, ICSs, particularly through their local authority members, have the opportunity to 
shape and co-ordinate cross-sector efforts to support people to stay well by working with the 
voluntary sector, local business and education providers to provide a more consistent offer for 
socially excluded and most disadvantaged groups, for homeless and inclusion health services. For 

Page 82



 
 

 17 

example, we heard very clearly the benefit of system-level (and in some instances regional) co-
ordination, and co-design of services for inclusion health groups will be essential to ensure equity of 
access and address the needs of people for whom traditional models may work less well.     

This principle of equity extends to the life course approach taken through the stocktake. In 
particular, we heard that there is often insufficient attention and resources directed toward 
providing effective support for children and young people, and to people with a learning disability 
and autistic people. Ensuring integrated primary care models are able to effectively adapt their offer 
will be vital in improving health outcomes and reducing unnecessary future demands on the health 
service. A real measure of success for this and other ICS strategies will be whether ICSs have 
meaningfully improved outcomes and experience for these groups which are often not well-served 
by traditional models.   

  

Page 83



 
 

 18 

Creating the national environment to support locally driven change 
 
Making the vison for integrated primary care a reality in every neighbourhood will not happen 
overnight, and additional workforce and resources – as much as they are needed – will not, on their 
own, get us to where we need to be.  

We need a change in how national policy is designed and implemented, which pivots to enabling 
local teams to be supported to do the job they need to do.  We encourage national partners 
including NHS England and DHSC to continue to consider how to create and support conditions for 
success and local flexibility, as determined by local leadership and delivery partners in service of 
local populations. 

There are three major areas where we heard very clearly that with the right approach, we can make 
the biggest impact in creating the environment for local systems to succeed in delivering the new 
vision for primary care: workforce, estates and data. 

These three policy areas are crucial to the delivery of the new model because they can enable the 
flexibilities on workforce that will be central to creating integrated neighbourhood teams, provide 
the opportunity to co-locate those teams in hubs to ensure greater accessibility for patients and a 
positive working environment for staff, and equip them with the information to target services 
where they are most needed. 

It is worth noting that most of the recommendations contained in this report are by systems for 
systems, as well as requiring more national action on workforce, estates and data; and not all the 
recommendations require additional funding. It is just as important that we create an environment 
that supports local change not dictates it: we need to energise local ambition if the new vision for 
integrating primary care is to succeed.  

But there is a simple reality: the pace at which we create the right environment on workforce, 
estates and data, both at a national and system level, directly impacts on the speed at which the 
model can be delivered in every neighbourhood.  

Confronting workforce gaps  

Primary care has never been busier, and capacity gaps lie behind most of the challenges that the 
NHS faces. These gaps – and the increased demand for services – were growing in the decade before 
COVID-19 due to workforce pressures and reduced staff satisfaction, the increasing number of 
people living with multiple long-term conditions, and changes in public expectations.  

Layer on the demands of treating COVID-19 patients and vaccinating the nation, and we now have 
an extremely busy urgent care system, big backlogs of work across elective, community, mental 
health, social and primary care, and staff unable to offer what they think patients reasonably need. 
These challenges, while consistent around the country, are more pronounced in areas of greater 
deprivation, which risks further contributing to health inequalities.xi 

A new care model will not magic away our workforce challenges: we need to continue to grow the 
MDTs in primary care and recruit and retain as many extra GPs as we can possibly get. The plain fact 
is that the aggregate numbers of GP full-time equivalents (FTEs) are simply growing too slowly and 
we will need more action at every level to address the gap.  

Page 84



 
 

 19 

In headline terms, the record number of trainees masks the loss of fully trained GPs, particularly 
experienced partners, who also on average work more hours than salaried GPs, who in turn on 
average work more hours than those who work solely as locum GPs.xii We also face a big potential 
retirement bulge, and as a nation we should certainly be doing all we can to encourage all our 
international medical graduates – who make up 40% of all our GP registrars – to settle in England as 
an NHS GP on a permanent basis. We also heard that looking again at the role of the GP Performers 
List could enable us to increase capacity if it enables other appropriately qualified clinicians to 
contribute more easily as part of the primary care workforce. 

Addressing the shortfall in GPs is essential and urgent. We have heard through the stocktake that 
there are also recruitment and retention challenges across the wider primary care workforce, 
particularly NHS dentistry and community pharmacy, and that there is significant variation across 
different parts of the country and across employers.  

But the workforce picture in primary care is not all bleak. PCNs have been more successful than we 
all hoped in hiring extra staff in new roles. The latest data as of Q4 2021/22 shows that over 18,000 
FTEs were in post by end of March 2022 – significantly ahead of the trajectory towards the 26,000 
March 2024 target. This is very welcome, and progress must not stall. We welcome the clarity from 
NHS England that staff in post will continue to be treated as part of the core PCN cost base beyond 
2023/24 when any future updates to the GMS contract are considered.xiii  

We also heard a strong message through the stocktake that improving the supervision, development 
and career progression of individuals in Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) roles is 
crucial to retain them and make the most of their skills and experience as part of integrated 
neighbourhood teams. We came across some great examples of practices and PCNs using additional 
roles to improve patient care, but we know there is variation across the country, something 
highlighted in the recent King’s Fund report. Some local systems have not yet been able to make 
best use of the scheme due to a lack of local capacity for clinical and managerial supervision, 
inadequate space in practices, confusion around the purpose of some roles, administrative 
complexities, and lack of expertise on organisational development and role redesign to embed new 
roles. 

Reforms to education and training to build our workforce pipeline will take time, and we 
acknowledge that there are no quick fixes when it comes to workforce supply, which is why a long-
term workforce strategy is required. The forthcoming national workforce strategy should include a 
focus on primary care and support ICSs to deliver this report. However, what we also heard loud and 
clear through the stocktake is that given the right discretion and flexibility, systems can get on with 
building the right local teams now.  

Systems working differently to shape their workforce  

Creating the environment where we can be flexible and nimble in managing the broader workforce 
can provide some quick wins. Systems need the flexibility to think creatively about how they 
maximise the skills and experience across the current primary care workforce and elsewhere in the 
system. As well as working with system partners to promote education, apprenticeships and new 
local employment opportunities, ICSs should be supported in the process of appropriately  
de-medicalising ‘care’ to help deliver a more personalised offer for patients but also to help with 
immediate workforce supply issues.  

Page 85



 
 

 20 

Systems should also support the development and rollout of innovative employment models such as 
joint appointments and rotational models that promote collaboration rather than competition 
between employers, particularly where skills are scarce. 

To support improved workforce planning, the electronic staff record or a similar integrated 
workforce solution, should be used throughout primary care to inform demand and capacity 
planning and enable team-based job planning and rostering to become the norm.   

Not only will this support integrated neighbourhood teams to make more effective decisions, the 
aggregated data would support a greater national understanding of workforce pressures that should 
guide the development of future national workforce and estates strategies.  
 
Berkshire, Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire commissioned support to develop an online workforce 
planning tool for their PCNs. The aim was for general practice recruitment strategies and workforce 
plans to be better informed by population needs. They used quantitative and qualitative data to 
provide tailored insights to each PCN on how to meet population and workforce needs one, three 
and five years into the future. Subject matter experts, including data analysts, supported making 
sense of the information and identifying pragmatic solutions to current and future workforce 
challenges. These data packs have been used to inform targeted interventions, including maximising 
the use of ARRS roles. An insight paper was also provided to the ICS to inform their system-wide 
workforce strategy. PCNs have already requested to repeat the process next year to capture 
progress and develop increasingly sophisticated approaches to workforce planning.  

ICSs developing system-level workforce data will also enable a better understanding of workforce 
pressures across primary care: for example, the impact of likely changes in GP numbers in each 
practice, allowing them to identify what actions they might take to improve recruitment and 
retention of GPs, such as GP returner and retainer schemes, GP mentors and mentorship schemes, 
and leadership schemes.  

NHS England should work together with systems – recognising they will all have locally driven 
workforce plans – to identify what measures can be introduced to better support local recruitment 
and training of key community healthcare teams such as community nurses, care support, 
community psychiatric nurses and district nurses to work alongside primary care in integrated 
neighbourhood teams. 

Extending the agenda beyond headcount 
 
We do not just need to attract new staff into primary care; we need to create the backdrop that 
allows their roles to be reimagined and made more flexible and attractive – ultimately supporting 
increased participation and retention in primary care.   

This was particularly evident in conversation with the next generation of primary care leaders, who 
are clear about the need for a sense of parity with specialist careers, a realistic work-life balance, 
their desire to work in MDTs, and having the ability to pursue a variety of roles to create a diverse 
working week and, ultimately, career.  

There should be a more consistent and comprehensive training, supervision and development offer 
across primary care – including a focus on medical and non-medical staff and existing staff such as 
receptionists, practice managers and practice nurses, and retention strategies across early, mid and 

Page 86



 
 

 21 

late career. Systems will want to work with primary and community care training hubs to ensure ‘the 
offer’ they provide is broad enough to help integrated neighbourhood teams flourish. 

We need to recognise that PCNs will only be able to meet the challenge set out in this report if they 
are properly supported. There should be a strong focus on supporting PCNs and GP practices with 
supervision of the ARRS roles and others, for example, making the most of multiprofessional and 
remote models of supervision where appropriate. 
 
Birmingham and Solihull (BSoL) has a primary care 4Rs workforce strategy (Recruit, Retain, 
Returners and Role Allocation). This includes a PCN development plan co-designed with PCNs 
that complements the training hub, leadership academy and system peoples board. It supports 
recruitment and retention of ARRS roles across the system – for example, facilitating joint working 
between PCNs and Birmingham Mental Health Trust on mental health practitioner roles and 
integrating the community mental health transformation programme. All 29 PCNs have signed up to 
deliver PCN development plans for three consecutive years.   

The strategy has an underpinning framework consisting of a range of joined-up and proactive 
workforce schemes for early, mid and late-career GPs and nurses. BSoL also has a thriving general 
practice Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Staff and Allies Network with over 300 members and 29 
PCN health inequalities champions. In addition, there is a general practice flexible pools scheme 
locum bank. 

These steps, taken together, will support ICSs to have a fighting chance of improving recruitment 
and retention in primary care going forward. But this will only get us so far.  
 

Listening to and supporting our frontline staff 
 
We also need to improve the experience of working in primary care for everyone by making the 
employment culture more compassionate and inclusive, and listening much more effectively to what 
primary care staff are telling us.  

The NHS staff survey is already being piloted in some areas of general practice and now needs to be 
extended nationwide and considered for NHS-funded primary care. Identifying ways to support and 
listen to staff who are working as carers would also be very welcome, and primary care staff should 
have access to Freedom to Speak Up guardians, promoting an open and listening culture. Workforce 
data, staff surveys and other feedback mechanisms for staff, should be used by ICSs and local leaders 
across primary care to take action to improve equality, diversity and inclusion across the primary 
care workforce.  

We must tackle racial discrimination and harassmentxiv because it is the right thing to do, it is crucial 
to retain our staff, and to further strengthen how the primary care workforce reflects and 
strengthens its connection with the diverse communities it serves. We must value the important 
contribution that individuals with protected characteristics, including age, sex, religion or belief, 
people with disabilities, those from the LGBTQ+ community, black and minority ethnic backgrounds, 
and with caring responsibilities, make as part of our workforce.  Ensuring flexible working and other 
forms of support are available to these groups and any others that experience discrimination in the 
workplace should be central to local, system-level and national workforce strategies. 

Systems should drive a more standardised and improved employment offer for primary care in line 
with the NHS People Promise: for example, by ensuring parity of access to system staff health and 

Page 87



 
 

 22 

wellbeing hubs and occupational health services, and by encouraging employers to adopt NHS terms 
and conditions by sharing existing good practice and model contracts. 

Investing in local leadership to drive change 
 
The role of PCN clinical directors in the future will be essential to the leadership of integrated 
neighbourhood teams: and when leadership is strong and purpose is clear, retention rates improve.  

More focus needs to be given to the development and support of clinical directors beyond the 
current basic arrangements provided through the national contract, including the local provision of 
sufficient protected time to be able to meet the leadership challenge in integrated neighbourhood 
teams. 

Some systems will want to go beyond this and use even more innovative ways to support clinical 
directors to expand and develop their integrated neighbourhood teams, for example: 

• some neighbourhood teams may offer an opportunity to develop different areas of focus and 
specialisation, with senior GPs serving as the ‘consultant in general practice’ – working across 
prevention, chronic and urgent care as part of wider teams 

• securing the specialist input from secondary care required in neighbourhood teams, as part of 
job planning for consultants 

• supporting community partners to operationally embed relevant teams as an integral part of 
existing PCN teams, recognising that the integration of community and mental health services 
with primary care is crucial to delivering more integrated care for patients in the community, as 
set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. 

We also need to consider the leaders of tomorrow. Aspiring leaders already within systems and 
those coming though the national talent pipeline in the NHS – for example, the NHS Graduate 
Management Training Scheme – should, in future, be able to access development programmes that 
promote integrated working across systems. There should be a consistent leadership development 
offer accessible to primary care staff that is comparable to other NHS family providers and promotes 
multiprofessional leadership across the breadth of primary care. This should increase diversity across 
primary care and system leadership. The welcome mindset change we are seeing in the leadership of 
the emerging ICSs needs to be embedded and tested in what we expect of our future leaders. It is 
important that primary care leaders can see a career path that extends into system roles in 
neighbourhoods, provider collaboratives and beyond. 
 
Suffolk and North East Essex One Clinical Community leadership development programmes aim to 
cross multi-organisational boundaries, support a common purpose across practitioners in the 
community, develop trust and improve outcomes, and build a network of effective leaders who can 
together address the key challenges in the wider health and social care system. Since it was 
commissioned in 2018, the programme has evolved to support leadership development across the 
eight integrated neighbourhoods teams (INTs) within the Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance. The core 
members of INTs on the programme come from community services, social care and mental health, 
with additional participation from staff working in general practice, secondary care, charity and 
voluntary sectors, public health and district and borough councils. An evaluation by the University of 
Suffolk found that the programmes’ objectives to enhance leadership skills, support personal 
development and for the skills and knowledge developed to be applied through the practice of 
integration impacting teamworking, were met. 

Page 88



 
 

 23 

Reimagining our approach to primary care estates  
 
In parallel, we need to address and rethink our second capacity constraint: space.  

Next steps for integrating primary care sets out a vision of integrated neighbourhood teams, 
providing joined up accessible care. But much of the general practice and wider primary care estate 
is frankly not up to scratch.  

There are 8,911 premises in England, 22% of which are pre-1948 and 49% of which are owned by 
GPs, 35% owned by a third party, and 14% owned by NHS Property Services.xv Around 2,000 
premises have been identified by GPs as not being fit for purpose,xvi and there was strong feedback 
throughout the stocktake that we do not start thinking about estates early enough in our planning 
and frequently regret it.  

Estates are so much more than buildings. We must move to a model that makes estates a catalyst 
for integration rather than a barrier to it. This new model should focus on patient needs, create a 
positive working environment for staff and provide adequate space for key activities like training and 
team development. Creating the right environment has to start with understanding what we have 
got in terms of estates, something that is best undertaken locally.  
 
In Dorset, the primary care estates team has undertaken an 18-month programme to pull together 
practice profiles for its 120 general practice sites. These profiles include ownership models, square 
footage, utilisation etc, and are supporting the development of a broader strategic network plan 
that allows PCNs and practices to take a holistic approach to estates planning.   

 
The focus of capital investment has been weighted towards secondary care – something that now 
needs to change. Layered onto this is the fact that the GP owner-occupier model includes perverse 
incentives which can make cross-system collaboration more difficult. 
As with workforce, we need to recognise that the current mindset and approach to estates need to 
change, and that we need to create the permissions and support for local systems to build estates 
models that better align with delivery of clinical, digital and workforce strategies. Despite investment 
constraints, there is real opportunity locally to start to deliver improvement now.  

We need a detailed review of the space available in each system, service by service, to inform the 
ICS estates infrastructure strategies. These reviews should help us understand what we have got and 
what we can fix locally, as well as help us prioritise funding as and when capital becomes available.  

ICSs have the reach to take a ‘one public estate’ approach and think creatively about primary care 
estates, considering: 

• developing primary care estates plans from the perspective of access, population health and 
health inequalities 

• making use of local authority, third sector and community assets, building on the approach 
to COVID-19 vaccination, including places of worship, community centres, and allotments 

• making creative use of void and vacant space in the NHS Property Services and Community 
Health Partnerships portfolio 

• opportunities for co-locating primary care when bringing forward secondary care estates 
plans 

Page 89



 
 

 24 

• pragmatic, low-cost opportunities to repurpose existing space, within local funding streams, 
as well as making use of the potential ability of the local authority to raise capital beyond 
NHS limits to fund new estates 

• opportunities for locating primary care onto the high street as part of local economic 
regeneration.  
 

In Waltham Forest, north east London, a new state-of-the-art health centre following partnership 
working between the borough council and local NHS has been built. The £1.4 million building, 
located within the Sutherland Road development in Walthamstow, is due to open in spring 2022 – 
providing a modern and spacious new home for GPs and other staff at the Lime Tree and Sinnott 
Healthcare medical practice.  

The project formed part of the council’s capital plan for regeneration, which included the desire to 
improve healthcare infrastructure across the borough, in response to demographic changes and 
increased local demand for primary care services.  

The new purpose-built centre will enable the GP practice to relocate from its existing premises and 
allow it to expand its current registered list from 6,500 to 10,000 patients over the next 15 years. 
The new-look practice will also benefit from investment in digital technologies to facilitate self-
monitoring – allowing patients to take greater control of their own care, alongside convenient access 
to a wider range of health services in the community. 

 
As systems, we should already be thinking about tackling those issues that create barriers to change. 
‘Last partner standing’ scenarios may require systems to find innovative solutions that maintain 
service quality and continuity when partnerships propose handing back Primary Medical Services 
contracts. For example, where the overall benefits to patients and avoided costs of replacing 
provision would justify it, there may be options such as to transfer ownership to public or 
commercial system partners. In scenarios such as this, NHS England needs to give permission to 
systems to make difficult choices, but ones which will ultimately benefit our patients and the 
taxpayer.  
 

Data, data, data 
 
Integrated neighbourhood teams can only flourish if we ensure information about patient care can 
be properly shared – for use in providing and improving the co-ordination of care at an individual 
level, and for wider planning and research. Working across the whole of primary care, PCNs should 
be given the tools to make routine use of population data to inform how they design care for the 
people they serve.   
PCNs and wider neighbourhood teams need to be able to read and write seamlessly into a shared 
patient record that provides a single version of events for each patient with appropriate information 
governance arrangements in place. They also need to be able to access real-time data on demand, 
activity and capacity so that they are able to improve services, identify gaps and take action to 
redistribute resources and plan workforce accordingly. 

Data sharing is often not the norm in the NHS or other public services, despite the fact that most 
patients expect relevant information about their care to be shared between different professionals 
and organisations involved in their care. A number of ICSs are already working through plans for 
improving data sharing in their area and working with providers collaboratively to co-produce this, 

Page 90



 
 

 25 

looking at how to best invest in the essential IT infrastructure that underpins this – including 
establishing IT systems that can do the difficult work of linking datasets to enable population health 
management.  

It has always been true that if you give clinicians the data they will respond. Systems can enable this 
by putting in place a local transformation function which includes joined-up intelligence, 
improvement and other support functions with a deep understanding of primary care, organised and 
funded at system or place level, but wholly orientated to provide support for their neighbourhood 
teams.  

System P in Cheshire and Merseyside utilises multiple sources of intelligence to categorise 
population segments, and then explore the way in which these different groups of people interact 
with health and care services, and whether their needs are being met in the most effective and 
person-centric way. The initial focus is on two priority segments: Complex Lives and Frailty & 
Dementia, both of which have a unique set of needs and risk factors, which must be taken into 
consideration if outcomes are to improve. Partnership working with the University of Liverpool and 
utilisation of the CIPHA (Combined Intelligence for Public Health Action) platform is putting both the 
data and expertise in place.  

For much of the country, neither of these things exist and need to be put in place. As part of this, 
systems will need to consider how they can develop sufficient expertise in data analytics at the right 
level, including retraining existing staff and planning to increase recruitment in key roles. This means 
a change of mindset – from a previous focus on using data to inform commissioning and monitoring 
of contracts, to a two-way process of using data to drive improvement.   

Systems have a role to play in articulating a clear plan for data sharing across the system to support 
the development of population health management approaches at neighbourhood and place level, 
enabled by a clear information governance framework and work closely with providers and patients 
to co-produce data sharing agreements where appropriate.  

Creating the digital infrastructure needed to underpin integrated primary care 
 
Digital technology has the potential to transform how people access primary care, how services are 
delivered and how we plan care to better meet the needs of local communities. Often, however, the 
underlying infrastructure to enable this transformation is lacking – with wide variation in digital 
maturity, knowledge of digital transformation and procurement across and within systems.   

  

Page 91



 
 

 26 

In Brent, London, 20 practices created a centralised ‘eHub’ for online consultation management. 
The eHub supports practices to manage increasing levels of patient demand; leverage economies of 
scale; share existing and additional workforce, resources and flex capacity; optimise additional roles 
by distributing work to the right person; collaboration and peer support.  

The eHub enables clinicians to view patients’ ‘home’ practice records and write to the ‘community’ 
record. Notes are shared with the ‘home’ practice through a ‘discharge summary’.  

The eHub closes around 90% of online consultations. Face-to-face appointments remain available 
through patients’ ‘home’ practice and local, face-to-face extended access hub. Many patients 
reported that they like the improved convenience and speed of the new online access system. The 
eHub helps reduce pressure on ‘home’ practices, reduce patient waiting times and enables a faster 
response. Most requests sent to the eHub are ‘closed’ by it, increasing time for practices to focus on 
patients with more complex needs. 

During the pandemic, digital technology played an increasingly important role in maintaining 
services for patients who were happy to use it. We also learned that we can roll out digital 
technology at pace when circumstances demand. Having created a greater appetite for digital 
services – both among patients and staff – we should continue to offer a greater diversity of services 
in this way.   

ICSs have a vital role to play in developing a more coherent approach to digital transformation in 
primary care that focuses on improving patient experience and outcomes. Some are already 
conducting baseline assessments of the current state of digital infrastructure in their area and 
understand current needs and gaps and exploring how cloud telephony and online consultation 
tools, for example, can help to deliver more streamlined systems for accessing general practice.  

ICSs can support the development of more interoperable IT systems by following ‘what good looks 
like’ principles and the GPIT operating model when making decisions about IT investments and 
products, and they can leverage their larger scale and purchasing power to improve value for money 
and quality of service.  

Systems will also have a vital role in providing a digital training offer for clinical and non-clinical 
primary care staff. They will need to consider how digital expertise and leadership inform decision-
making at every level. Some have already chosen to appoint a chief information officer (CIO) or chief 
clinical information officer (CCIO) at executive level, as well as named leads for primary care digital 
transformation. Digital transformation needs to be embedded as part of a more holistic approach to 
primary care transformation. 

Critically, decisions about digital infrastructure in primary care need to be made in partnership with 
those who will use them – including engagement with both staff and patients. Ensuring that 
potential barriers to using digital tools, such as digital exclusion, are understood and addressed will 
be particularly important. Establishment of digitally enabled primary care hubs on a neighbourhood 
footprint will be a priority. 

  

Page 92



 
 

 27 

Hard-wiring the system to support change  
 
Throughout the course of the stocktake we had a number of themed working groups with expertise 
from every part of the system coming together to think about the kind of changes we would need to 
see both to inform the new model but critically how to make it deliverable.  

There are a range of near-term and longer-term actions – for systems, national organisations and 
government – that we can be getting on with now to directly support the delivery of the new model. 

Taken together the actions outlined in this section will not just create the conditions for the new 
vision of integrated primary care to succeed, they will create a common sense of purpose for the 
ICSs to maximise the impact of new ways of working that the reforms create the opportunity for. 

The recommendations in this section are by no means exhaustive and while the majority of this 
report places the onus on new ICSs to deliver the new model, this can only be done if national policy 
aligns to enable them to deliver it. To that end, we encourage national partners/DHSC and NHS 
England to undertake further work to consider the existing legislative, contractual, commissioning, 
and funding frameworks, which were out of scope for this stocktake. This work should consider what 
further changes could enable and incentivise this integrated model of care and new models of 
primary care; and how to improve equity in distribution of resource to ultimately improve health 
outcomes. 

Workforce 
 
The forthcoming national workforce strategy should focus on primary care and identify the wider 
skills and roles required for successful neighbourhood and place-based teams. This strategy should 
build on Health Education England’s (HEE) Strategic Framework 15 and must inform any future 
national estates plans to ensure adequate space for training, development and service provision. 
NHS England should simplify guidance and address common misunderstandings regarding ARRS, as 
well as consider further flexibilities that could be introduced that support recruitment in the short 
term. NHS England should work with DHSC and HEE to consider how the scheme should operate 
after March 2024, including the role of ICSs in working with national colleagues and PCNs in 
delivering it. 

The NHS Staff Survey should be rolled out nationally across primary care, building on current pilots 
in general practice to provide parity across the NHS family – as soon as funding permits. 

Estates 
 
DHSC and NHS England should provide additional, expert capacity and capability to help offer 
solutions to the most intractable estates issues, and practical support to work through them, as well 
as building ICS estates expertise. DHSC and NHS England should consider what flexibilities and 
permissions should be afforded to systems to allow shaping and influencing of the physical primary 
care estate, including through reviewing the Premises Cost Directions. DHSC should ensure that 
primary care estate is central in the next iteration of the Health Infrastructure Plan.  

The estates reviews, aided by the national plan, are central to creating coherence across services 
and sectors, and they should drive the transition to a modern, fit-for-purpose primary care estates 
offering – including future development of hubs within each neighbourhood and place to co-locate 

Page 93



 
 

 28 

integrated neighbourhood teams, as well as linking into the wider rollout of community diagnostic 
hubs, for the provision of more integrated services.   

Data and digital  
 
National action is needed to help put in place the data and digital infrastructure necessary to 
transform primary care.  

NHS England will need to work with ICSs and IT suppliers to ensure business intelligence tools and 
timely data are made readily available to practices and neighbourhood teams in an easy-to-use 
format, supported by the development of real-time data visualisation and standardisation of 
approaches to data to enable comparability tools.  

NHS England can also support ICSs to improve data sharing for direct care, service improvement and 
research by publishing a revised national template data sharing agreement, making clear that 
practices will not be liable for General Data Protection Regulation breaches relating to data shared 
under the agreed terms – an issue that is proving a barrier to setting up such agreements in some 
areas. It will also need to provide systems with guidance on minimum standards for procurement of 
analytical software and ensure training, tools and a comprehensive support offer are available. 

Both NHS England and systems need to work together to engage both communities and staff in why 
sharing data is so important and will help improve patient care. 

Access  
 
NHS England should consider the implications of a neighbourhood-based approach to urgent same-
day access in future national guidance on the wider urgent and emergency care pathway, specifically 
NHS 111 and integrated urgent care. 

NHS England should consider the development of new metrics and standards on urgent and routine 
access, and introduce as planned, the new patient-reported experience measure for access to 
general practice.  

Pivoting to locally led investment and support 
 
This report marks a strategic pivot to system-led approaches as a key way of driving up access 
experience and outcomes in primary care.  

National contractual arrangements, including for PCNs, have provided essential foundations 
including for chronic disease management and prevention. But they can only take you so far. As 
already highlighted in the report, getting to integrated primary care is all about local relationships, 
leadership, support and system-led investment in transformation.  

ICSs putting in place the right support locally will be enabled by maximising what control ICSs have 
over the direction of discretionary investment. This should be looked at by NHS England as part of 
the implementation of recommendations. 

It is also generally accepted that the distribution of primary care funding to neighbourhoods is not 
always well aligned to system allocations and underlying population health needs – and we need a 
concerted local effort to try and fix this. ICS leaders have already started to review discretionary 
investment in primary care to address this issue, working with clinical colleagues to understand the 
data and make the case for alternate approaches.   

Page 94



 
 

 29 

ICBs have an opportunity to establish a firm understanding of current spending distribution across 
primary care weighted by deprivation and other elements of the Core20PLUS5 approach, which can 
then inform discussions on how discretionary investment can be more purposefully directed to 
address health inequalities and form the basis of work to secure collective commitment from all 
system partners to this redistribution.  

In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland action has been taken to address inequalities in the existing 
primary care funding model, which is primarily driven by age and gender and not reflective of actual 
patient need at practice level. They are also tackling disparities in service provision; a population 
health-based model found that underfunded areas were the most deprived.  

The new model calculates practice payments by setting aside the core staff components, based on 
the current practice core contact income. The remainder of core contract funding and other funding 
in the model is distributed to practices based on needs and deprivation (90:10). As a result, 
approximately £3 million was identified to rebalance a fairer level of baseline funding across all 
practices, based on need and demographics, and the model enables future investments in primary 
care to be transparently distributed at practice and place, based on population health need. 

 
Beyond national contract entitlements, there are also too many small national pots of programme 
and system development funding money, ringfenced for particular purposes, which undermines how 
efficiently resources are allocated. NHS England should consider combining and simplifying central 
programme and transformation budgets for primary care. 
 

Backing existing practices and new models of provision for primary care 
 
The successful delivery of the new model can only be optimised if systems ensure they bring GP 
practices of all different shapes and sizes with them. We need to recognise that maintaining stability 
in general practice will be central to being able to deliver the new model of integrated care. 

We need to ensure the right arrangements are in place to support primary care where it wants to 
work with other providers at scale by establishing or joining provider collaboratives, GP federations, 
supra-PCNs, or working with or as part of community, mental health and acute providers. Both the 
contract and funding arrangements were out of scope of this review. But it is clear that changes to 
these could support this vision. We recommend that DHSC and NHS England rapidly undertake 
further work to understand how changes to these could support the implementation of integrated 
and new models of primary care. 

Where there are gaps in provision, or individual providers are rated ‘inadequate’ by CQC, ICSs should 
provide tailored support to practices to improve and, where appropriate, actively commission new 
providers of integrated list-based primary care, in particular for the least well served communities. 
ICSs should more generally also provide a primary care support offer for all providers, that includes a 
focus on quality improvement. 

The role of ICSs in supporting the development of integrated primary care as part of a national 
support and development offer should be explicit with accountability for delivery of integrated 
primary care reflected in the ICS accountability framework, including the respective roles of ICS and 
place-based leaders. 

Page 95



 
 

 30 

Enabling primary care at a system level  
 
System-level expertise on primary care should go beyond contracting to building relationships and 
developing capabilities within systems as they build their new teams.  We heard throughout the 
stocktake of the importance of a core set of capabilities to support improvement and 
transformation, with quality improvement; digital, data and analytics; understanding local 
communities and user experiences; physical infrastructure; workforce planning and transformation; 
service design; and the development of the primary care provider landscape coming up most 
frequently.  

These key primary care capabilities need to be in place for all systems, but not all need to be 
provided in-house – some may be brokered or commissioned from other providers at scale: eg GP 
federations, acute, community or mental health providers, or commissioning support services.  

Dudley Integrated Health and Care NHS Trust (DIHC) was created in 2020 by local GPs to provide 
out-of-hospital care by integrating primary care with community-based services and providing 
strategic and operational support. Forty-one practices signed an integration agreement with DIHC, 
committing general practice to deliver a primary care operating model in return for DIHC providing 
wider workforce and support to enable the model and the Dudley Quality Outcomes Framework to 
be achieved. 
 
Primary care is at the centre of all DIHC planning and development. Through a management 
agreement, DIHC supports the running of services and provides a turnaround team to address 
quality of service or management issues. DIHC produces workforce and estates plans on behalf of 
the PCNs each year, which PCNs tailor to their population’s needs. DIHC employs, trains, supervises 
and operationally manages all ARRS staff on behalf of PCNs and has established a pharmacy team of 
50 to support all practices. 
 
DIHC working with primary care is improving population health outcomes, providing a consistent 
service offer and supporting delivery of a sustainable model of general practice by providing support 
though extended access, community services, care home support, and PCN Direct Enhanced Service 
delivery. Dedicated management capacity and clinical leadership capabilities support primary care 
planning and development and enable the development and expansion of the range of 
commissioned services. 
 
All systems should carefully consider the breadth and level of their organisational capacity and 
capability to turn this framework for integrated primary care into local reality, taking account of 
responsibilities for commissioning NHS community dentistry, pharmacy and optical services from 
April 2023.  

Embedding primary care leadership throughout systems  
 
ISCs come into being on 1 July this year and have the opportunity to ensure that primary care is 
deeply embedded in the new governance arrangements they are designing. There are some well-
established existing forums for bringing clinical leaders and professions together, in particular for 
general practice.  

ICSs will want to ensure that primary care leadership across all four pillars is embedded across 
systems – this might be through the creation of a primary care forum or network with credibility and 
breadth of views to be able to advise the ICS. Building relationships with existing local professional 

Page 96



 
 

 31 

committees across all four pillars of primary care, such as local medical, pharmaceutical, dental and 
optical committees and primary care audiology, will ensure the support and collaboration of key 
local leaders in improving access, experience and outcomes for patients and communities. 

To ensure that primary care and the views of the communities it works in are heard throughout 
systems, integrated neighbourhood teams should be well linked to – and represented on – all place-
based boards. The connections integrated neighbourhood teams will build both with their respective 
communities and between them will be invaluable in the planning and decision-making that happens 
at a place board.  
 

The Black Country and West Birmingham Primary Care Collaborative was established to promote 
the interests and sustainability of primary care services and ensure a single voice for primary care in 
decision-making at all levels within the ICS.  

It represents grassroot primary care views, and in turn reflects patient and public needs and focuses 
on tacking inequalities in the planning and delivery of services. 

It joins all primary care professionals at a Black Country level, including GP practices, GP federations, 
primary care providers, local medical committees and PCNs. The collaborative plays a leading role in 
the design and development of the ICS primary care transformation strategy and acts as an expert 
reference group to the ICB around primary care issues.  

In its next phase, other independent contractors (including pharmacy, optometry and dentistry) will 
be included as delegation of statutory responsibility shifts to the ICS and is also intended to extend 
to include community services. 

 

 

Page 97



 
 

 32 

Conclusion 
 

Throughout this stocktake I have been overwhelmed by the energy, hope and appetite for 
improvement and change that exist today in the NHS. This is all the more remarkable given what 
everyone has been through for the last two years in supporting patients, families and 
neighbourhoods through the pandemic. 

There is real evidence that the experiences of individuals and teams over the last two years – 
alongside the enormity of challenge we face in recovery – are forging a new determination to work 
together to fix the issues that sometimes hold us back from delivering the best services and care. 

We arrive at this moment with an opportunity – through the creation of ICSs – to be brave in 
embracing new ways of working: to reimagine how we might deliver care in the future. To organise 
ourselves differently and better. To work together, no matter what part of the NHS we’re in.  

We’ve learned through the pandemic the true value of bringing people together and working in 
partnership to come up with local solutions. Communities up and down the country rallied as they 
never have before to support the COVID-19 vaccination programme and save lives. Harnessing that 
energy and working with those same communities to rebuild services to be more effective in 
delivering what they need has to be at the heart of everything we do.  

That’s why shifting our focus now onto developing integrated neighbourhood teams, places and 
systems gives us such a great opportunity to build a new, more effective health service designed 
with our communities to fit their needs.  

We also arrive at the point with a growing belief in how we can use digital and technology much 
better than ever before. The rapid development and rollout of technology-based solutions to 
support remote care during the pandemic helped all of us to realise the rapid opportunities this 
presents. More and more people want to use apps and mobile devices to support their healthcare – 
and this doesn’t have to be at the expense of face-to-face care, indeed as this stocktake shows, 
providing technology-based services for those who want them can free up more time for face-to-
face care for those who need it.  

Our biggest challenge is creating the conditions by which local change can happen – and that’s going 
to require pivoting away from top-down directives and creating an environment that supports local 
change, not dictates it from the centre. 

Ensuring local systems can access the right data to support the integrated neighbourhood teams to 
help primary care enhance the services it can provide is a good example. We also need to change 
step on how investment and financial support flows through the system. More new money is always 
welcome, but as a minimum every effort should be made to create as much local flexibility around 
discretionary funding as possible. That won’t just support local teams to shape services in a way 
their communities want them to, it will help them create the right incentives to being GP practices of 
all shapes and sizes with us on this journey.  

The glue that holds all of this together is leadership: investing in leadership at PCN, place and system 
level will be the difference between success and failure in integrating primary care. The talent pool 
that exists in primary care is vast: supporting and nurturing that talent to be innovative, brave and 
collaborative in leading the changes outlined in this stocktake will help to reignite appetite for 
change and improvement in neighbourhoods right across the NHS. 

Page 98



 
 

 33 

Very little of what is outlined in this stocktake is easy to deliver: I wouldn’t have been asked to 
undertake this work if it were. But the prize of delivering the ideas outlined in this document is 
greater than just improving the experience, access and outcomes of primary care: I believe that 
working this way we can strengthen trust within the NHS and rebuild confidence in the services it 
provides.  

 

 

 

Dr Claire Fuller  

26 May 2022 

 

 

  

Page 99



 
 

 34 

Annex: Framework for shared action  
 

1  Develop a single system-wide approach to managing integrated 
urgent care to guarantee same-day care for patients and a more 
sustainable model for practices. This should be for all patients 
clinically assessed as requiring urgent care, where continuity from 
the same team is not a priority. Same-day access for urgent care 
would involve care from the most clinically appropriate local service 
and professional and the most appropriate modality, whether a 
remote consultation or face to face.  

ICSs  

2  Assist systems with integration of primary and urgent care access, 
specifically looking at the role of NHS 111, and considering the 
development of new metrics and standards on urgent and routine 
access, and introduce as planned, the new patient-reported 
experience measure for access to general practice. 

NHS 
England  

3  Enable all PCNs to evolve into integrated neighbourhood teams, 
supporting better continuity and preventive healthcare as well as 
access, with a blended generalist and specialist workforce drawn 
from all sectors. Secondary care consultants – including, for 
example, geriatricians, respiratory consultants, paediatricians and 
psychiatrists – should be aligned to neighbourhood teams with 
commitments reflected in job plans, along with members of 
community and mental health teams. With teams collocated within 
neighbourhoods, to extend models of personalised care, embed 
enhanced health in care homes and develop a consistent set of 
diagnostic tests. At place level, bring together teams on admissions 
avoidance, discharge and flow – including urgent community 
response, virtual wards and community mental health crisis teams. 
Focus on community engagement and outreach, across the life 
course. Proactively identify and target individuals who can benefit 
from interventions in neighbourhoods, committing to delivering 
neighbourhood teams first for Core20PLUS5 populations.  
Co-ordinate vaccinations, screening and health checks at place level, 
in accordance with national standards.  

ICSs  

4  Co-design and put in place the appropriate infrastructure and 
support for all neighbourhood teams, across their functions 
including digital, data, intelligence and quality improvement, HR, 
finance, workforce plans and models, and estates. Specifically put in 
place sufficient support for all PCN clinical directors and 
multiprofessional leadership development, and protected time for 
team development. Baseline the existing organisational capacity and 
capacity for primary care, across system, place and neighbourhood 
levels, to ensure systems can undertake their core operational and 
transformation functions.   

ICSs  

Page 100



 
 

 35 

5  Develop a primary care forum or network at system level, with 
suitable credibility and breadth of views, including professional 
representation. Ensure primary care is represented on all place-
based boards.  

ICSs  

6  Embed primary care workforce as an integral part of system 
thinking, planning and delivery. Improve workforce data. Support 
innovative employment models and adoption of NHS terms and 
conditions. Support the development of training and supervision, 
recruitment and retention and increased participation of the 
workforce, including GPs.   

ICSs  

7  Include primary care as a focus in the forthcoming national 
workforce strategy to support ICSs to deliver this report (NHS 
England). Recognising this is not currently funded, commit to future 
rollout of the NHS Staff Survey in primary care. Examine further 
flexibilities, and better communicate existing flexibilities, in the 
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme. Specifically consider, with 
DHSC and HEE, how the scheme should operate after March 2024, 
including the role of ICSs in working with national colleagues and 
PCNs in delivering it. Review the GPs Performers List to enable other 
appropriately qualified clinicians to contribute more easily as part of 
the primary care workforce. 

DHSC with 
NHS England 
and HEE  

8  Pivot to system leadership as the primary driver of primary care 
improvement and development of neighbourhood teams in the 
years ahead. Move to greater financial flexibility for systems on 
primary care. Bring together existing national primary care funding 
wherever practicable. Beyond 2023/24, maximise system decision-
making on any future discretionary investment, beyond DDRB and 
pay uplifts.   

NHS 
England  

9  Improve data flows including by (i) solving the problem of data-
sharing liability, issuing a revised national template; (ii) working with 
system suppliers on extract functionality; (iii) improving data to 
support access (actions 1 and 2 above), and (iv) helping to identify 
population cohorts to be targeted by neighbourhood teams.  

NHS 
England  

10  Develop a system-wide estates plan to support fit-for-purpose 
buildings for neighbourhood and place teams delivering integrated 
primary care, taking a ‘one public estate’ approach and maximising 
the use of community assets and spaces.  

ICSs  

11  DHSC and NHSE should provide additional, expert capacity and 
capability to help offer solutions to the most intractable estates 
issues, and practical support to work through them, as well as 
building ICS estates expertise. DHSC and NHSE should consider what 
flexibilities and permissions should be afforded to systems to allow 
shaping and influencing of the physical primary care estate, 
including through reviewing the Premises Cost Directions.  DHSC 

DHSC and 
NHS 
England  

Page 101



 
 

 36 

should ensure that primary care estate is central in the next 
iteration of the Health Infrastructure Plan.   

12  Create a clear development plan to support the sustainability of 
primary care and translate the framework provided by Next steps 
for integrated primary care into reality, across all neighbourhoods. 
Ensure a particular focus on unwarranted variation in access, 
experience and outcomes. Ensure understanding of current 
spending distribution across primary care, compared with the 
system allocation and health inequalities. Support primary care 
where it wants to work with other providers at scale, by establishing 
or joining provider collaboratives, GP federations, supra-PCNs or 
working with or as part of community mental health and acute 
providers. Tackle gaps in provision, including where appropriate, 
commissioning new providers in particular for the least well-served 
communities.   

ICSs  

13  Work alongside local people and communities in the planning and 
implementation process of the actions set out above, ensuring that 
these plans are appropriately tailored to local needs and 
preferences, taking into account demographic and cultural factors.  

ICSs  

14  In support of systems, set out how the actions highlighted for NHS 
England will be progressed.  

NHS 
England  

15 DHSC and NHS England should rapidly undertake further work on 
the legislative, contractual, commissioning, and funding 
framework to enable and support new models of integrated 
primary care. This work should also consider how to improve equity 
in distribution of resource and ultimately improve health outcomes. 

DHSC and 
NHS England 

 

  

Page 102



 
 

 37 

Workstream and task and finish group chairs 
 
This stocktake has been informed by invaluable insights from nine workstreams and four task and 
finish groups, the Chairs of which endorse its findings 
 
 
Professor Simon Gregory 
Deputy Medical Director, 
Primary and Integrated Care, 
Health Education England  
Chair, Workforce, people, 
leadership, education and 
training workstream 
 
 
 
Thirza Sawtell 
Managing Director/ 
Integrated Care, 
St George’s, Epsom and St 
Helier Hospitals and Health 
Group 
Chair, Governance & 
decision-making workstream  
 
 
 
Joanna Killian 
Chief Executive, Surrey 
County Council  
Chair, Start well lifecourse 
workstream 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Dr Neil Modha 
GP Partner and Chair of 
Greater Peterborough 
Network GP Federation 
Chair, Data, pop health data, 
demand & capacity, risk 
stratification and health 
inequalities workstream 
 
 
Dr Harpreet Sood 
Non-Executive Director, 
Health Education England, 
and founding board 
member, Digital Health 
London 
Chair, Non-physical access 
and digital workstream 
 
 
Glen Burley 
Chief Executive, South 
Warwickshire NHS FT, Wye 
Valley and George Eliot NHS 
Trusts 
Chair, Live & work well 
lifecourse workstream 
 
 

           

          

 Fatima Khan Shah 
Associate Director, Long 
Term Conditions and 
Personalisation, West 
Yorkshire and Harrogate 
Health and Care Partnership 
Chair, Engagement with 
people and communities 
workstream 
 
 
 
Jan Thomas 
Chief Executive Designate, 
Cambridge and 
Peterborough ICS 
Chair, Physical access and 
estates workstream 
 
 
 
 
Tracey Bleakley 
Chief Executive Designate, 
Norfolk and Waveney 
Integrated Care System   
Chair, Ageing and dying well 
lifecourse workstream

Daniel Elkeles  
Chief Executive, 
London 
Ambulance 
Service 
Chair, Urgent 
and episodic care 
task and finish 
group 

Professor Kevin 
Fenton 
Regional Director 
for the London 
Office of Health 
Improvement and 
Disparities  
Co-Chair, 
prevention task and 
finish group 

Rob Webster 
Chief Executive, 
West Yorkshire 
Health and Care 
Partnership 
Chair, Learning 
disability and 
autism task and 
finish group 
 
 

Dr Jaweeda Idoo  
Clinical Champion 
for Personalised 
Care, Greater 
Manchester Health 
and Care 
Partnership 
Co-Chair, 
prevention task 
and finish group 
 

Dr Nick 
Broughton   
Chief Executive,  
Oxford Health  
NHS Foundation  
Trust 
Chair, Mental  
health task and 
 finish group 

Page 103



38 
 

 38 

 
 

 

References 
 

i Nuffield Trust (2022). Public satisfaction with the NHS and social care in 2021: Results from the British Social 
Attitudes Survey. 
ii PRUComm (2022). Eleventh National GP Worklife Survey 2021, NHS Digital (2020). Dentists’ Working 
Patterns, Motivation and Morale – 2018/19 and 2019/20 , Royal Pharmaceutical Society and Pharmacist 
Support (2021). RPS and Pharmacist Support Mental Health and Wellbeing Survey 2021   
iii Access to and delivery of general practice services - The Health Foundation 
iv https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=z_Sp5Rzwb8o  
v https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8510690/  
vi https://bjgp.org/content/72/715/e91  
vii https://www.rcgp.org.uk/clinical-and-research/our-programmes/clinical-priorities/efficient-multimorbidity-
management.aspx and  https://www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e5205 
viii https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on 
ix The Health Foundation. Briefing: Understanding the health care needs of people with multiple health 
conditions. November 2018. https://www.health.org.uk/publications/understanding-the-health-care-needs-
of-people-with-multiple-health-conditions  
x The Health Foundation. Tackling the inverse care law. January 2022: 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/tackling-the-inverse-care-law  
xi 'Levelling up' general practice in England - The Health Foundation; Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot 
Review - The Health Foundation; and socio-economic inequalities in access to planned hospital care - 
210513.pdf (strategyunitwm.nhs.uk) 
xii General Practice Workforce - NHS Digital: the comparison between contracted hours can be calculated by 
dividing the FTE figures by headcount for each individual or for each staff role – based on the March 2022 data, 
GP partners work an average of 85.5% of FTE, salaried GPs an average of 64.0%, and regular GP locums an 
average of 40.9% in a general practice setting. 
xiii Update to the GP Contract agreement 2020/21 – 2023/24 (2020)  
xiv Pan-LondonDiscriminationRacismPrimaryCareSurvey_Final.pdf 
xv Primary Care Estates Data Gathering Programme 
xvi NHS Property and Estates (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



Proposed 
Spelthorne Healthy 
Communities 
Partnership

P
age 105



Summary

Following legislative changes local partners have been asked to devise a new model of 

governance that meets the requirements of place based timely health interventions.

The council would like to take the lead and seeks to achieve, as a minimum, the 

following outcomes:

1. A real focus on delivering actual improved outcomes for actual people.

2. A focus on learning by doing.

3. A structure that will evolve over time that is focussed on delivery.

4. A principle of decisions taken as locally as possible  

5. Develop an enabling environment “can-do” and entrepreneurial culture. 

6. Meetings will be purposeful, and outcomes driven, with the right individuals with the 

right skill sets who will be identified through the terms of reference.

P
age 106



The purpose of the group is to explore new ways of delivering services and 

interventions that address the wider determinants of health and wellbeing. The 

aim being to improve the health and wellbeing outcomes for Spelthorne residents.

The group will discuss, share and help determine the health & wellbeing priorities 

for Spelthorne in conjunction with stakeholders across the system. The group will 

also help raise awareness and support the communication of health & wellbeing 

information in Spelthorne. The group will determine groups, individuals or 

organisations that could benefit from devolved health budgets based on a brief 

application and a checklist of agreed outcomes.

P
age 107



FOUNDING MEMBERS

We will invite representatives from the following organisations:

 Spelthorne Borough Council including the chair and vice chair of Community Wellbeing committee 

and Group Head for Community Wellbeing, and representatives from relevant Council departments

 Surrey County Council representatives including Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. 

 Voluntary organisations such as Voluntary Support North Surrey, Action for Carers and Catalyst.

 A representative from North West Surrey Alliance (ICP).

 A representative from one of the third sector community care borough wide forums or groups (for, 

children with disabilities, older people and adults with physical and sensory disabilities.

  A representative from CSH.

 Other members including Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, or Ashford & St 

Peter’s Hospital’s NHS Trust

P
age 108



TERMS OF REFERENCE

The responsibilities of the Spelthorne Healthy Communities Partnership are to:

1. oversee progress towards the Spelthorne priorities as outlined in the Spelthorne Health & Wellbeing 

Strategy and to identify any new priorities that should be addressed. 

2. drive change in neighbourhoods and support the delivery of what works well locally in step with our 

communities.

3. support the delivery of improved outcomes for residents.

4. encourage a focus on learning by doing.

5. create a pragmatic structure that can evolve over time that continues to be focussed on delivery and 

outcomes.

6. develop an enabling environment and entrepreneurial culture.

7. meetings will be purposeful, and outcomes driven. 

8. retain a ‘pooled budget’ that can facilitate community led heath interventions.

9. consider any issues raised by members of the group or the wider community and to determine what needs 

to be done to resolve these issues.

10. provide an opportunity for the sharing of relevant information between agencies.

11. link to other local, partnership groups as appropriate 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Published on 1 September  

Spelthorne Borough Council  
Services Committees Forward Plan and Key Decisions 

 
This Forward Plan sets out the decisions which the Service Committees expect to take over the forthcoming months, and identifies those which are Key Decisions. 
 
A Key Decision is a decision to be taken by the Service Committee, which is either likely to result in significant expenditure or savings or to have significant effects on those 
living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough. 
 
Please direct any enquiries about this Plan to CommitteeServices@spelthorne.gov.uk.

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 10



 

Published on 1 September  

Spelthorne Borough Council 
 

Service Committees Forward Plan and Key Decisions for 1 September 2023 to 31 May 2024 
 

Anticipated earliest (or 
next) date of decision 
and decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer 

Community Wellbeing 
and Housing Committee 
26 09 2023 
 

Community Centre Saturday 
Opening (A continuation) 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Julia Sibley, Business Support Manager, 
Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely, Strategic Lead, 
Independent Living 

Community Wellbeing 
and Housing Committee 
26 09 2023 
 

Grants Panel Terms of 
Reference 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Kamal Mehmood, Strategic Lead for Leisure 
and Community Development 

Community Wellbeing 
and Housing Committee 
26 09 2023 
 
Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 16 
10 2023 
 
Council 19 10 2023 
 

Leisure Operator 
Procurements 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Private Hilary Gillies, Interim Corporate Procurement 
Manager, Carolyn Sheppard, Leisure 
Facilities & Project Manager 

Community Wellbeing 
and Housing Committee 
26 09 2023 
 

North West Surrey Role 
Mapping Risks and 
Opportunities 

Key Decision 
 
 

Public Karen Sinclair, Group Head - Community 
Wellbeing, Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely, 
Strategic Lead, Independent Living 

Community Wellbeing 
and Housing Committee 
26 09 2023 
 

Verbal Update on the Local 
Authority Housing Fund 
Round 2, Property Acquisition 
and Bridging Hotel Closure 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Public Marta Imig, Housing Strategy and Policy 
Manager 

P
age 112



 
 

1 September Key Decision Forward plan 
 

Date of decision and 
decision maker 

Matter for consideration Key or non-Key Decision Decision to be 
taken in Public or 
Private 

Lead Officer 

Corporate Policy and 
Resources Committee 16 
10 2023 
 

Staffing Report - Independent 
Living 

Non-Key Decision 
 
 

Private Stephen Mortimer-Cleevely, Strategic Lead, 
Independent Living 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Exempt Minutes 13 June 2023

	6 Grants Panel Terms of Reference
	Appendix A - Grants Panel Historic Terms of Reference
	APPENDIX B - Proposed Terms of Reference - Option 1 (Recommended)
	Appendix C - Proposed Terms of Reference Option 2
	APPENDIX D  - Proposed Terms of Reference Option 3

	7 Community Centre Saturday Opening (A continuation)
	8 North West Surrey Role Mapping Risks and Opportunities
	Appendix 1 Health & Wellbeing Roles
	Slide 1

	Appendix 2 NWS Role Mapping
	Appendix 3 SCC role descriptions
	Appendix 4  Woking Borough Council - Borough Discharge Support Officer report 2022-23 (1)
	Appendix 5 Social Prescribing Q4 County Overview (1)
	Appendix 6 GP Funded Roles
	Appendix 7 fuller-stocktake-report
	Appendix 8 Spelthorne Healthy Communities TOR
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5


	10 Forward Plan
	12 Staffing Report - Independent Living
	Appendix 1 Internal Only WBC costs
	Appendix 2 Woking Borough Council - Borough Discharge Support Officer report 2022-23
	Appendix 3 Social Prescribing Q4 County Overview

	13 Leisure Operator Procurements
	CONFIDENTIAL Appendix A - Tender Report - Leisure Centre Operator v3.0


